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Leading the way in innovative intervention, Kids Under Cover supports
vulnerable and disadvantaged young people between the ages of 12 and
25 years, who are either already homeless or at risk of homelessness.
We are the only not-for-profit organisation in Australia delivering the unique
combination of studio accommodation (placed in backyards) and education
scholarships as a practical and proven strategy in preventing youth homelessness.
Since 1989 it’s been Kids Under Cover’s mission to provide young people at risk of
homelessness the foundations to strengthen their connection to family, community,
and education.

Our solution
Early intervention has been successfully shown to interrupt the spiral of homelessness,
and is a far more effective strategy both economically and socially in ending the
homelessness crisis.
Our early intervention model is delivered in two parts:
• The Studio Program is at the heart of Kids Under Cover’s work. We build relocatable one- or
two-bedroom studios (with bathroom) in the backyard of a family or carer’s home, providing
secure and stable accommodation for young people at risk of homelessness.
• Complementing the Studio Program, we provide scholarships to assist with the financial costs associated
with education or training, to keep young people engaged with education and connected to the community.

Photography: Special thanks to Megagraphics
Photography for front cover image and
generous support throughout the year.
Thanks to the models who appear in imagery
to protect identities of young people.
design: grin creative.
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Cover: Aliesha and Teagan Newman
Read their story on page 30.

OUR VISION

OUR mission

OUR Values

Where no young person in our
community is homeless.

Providing young people at
risk of homelessness the
foundations to strengthen their
connection to family, community
and education and make a
lasting difference in their lives.

• Empathy
• Collaboration
• Resilience
• Engagement
• Integrity

Every year we report on our operational and
financial outcomes.
This 2016/17 Annual Report contains detailed information
on the Kid Under Cover financial performance.

-2017
2016Highlights

Within this report we have also included information
pertaining to the outcomes from our annual evaluation
and a Social Return on Investment report.
We also like to provide a snapshot of significant
achievements and activities undertaken throughout the
year and the work we have done within the community
to achieve positive outcomes for young people, their
carers and family, and society.

Introduction

about this
report

$26,000

Our annual report is a wonderful opportunity to share
stories about the young people and families we support,
celebrate the achievements of young people and thank
our community, corporate and philanthropic partners
who have supported us throughout the year.

record price
paid for
a cubby
at our
flagship
event cubby
house
challenge®

Over
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116
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the ground

People held
fundraising
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the community
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25 45
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metro regional
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700

young people
living in a
Kids Under
Cover studio
in one of

156

young people
awarded a
kids under cover
scholarship
for education
or training
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Message from
the Chair
I am delighted to share with you the 2017 Kids Under Cover Annual Report.
It’s been yet another exciting period in our pursuit for a community where no young
person is homeless.
The year saw us build 70 new studios and award more scholarships than ever before.
Our fundraising efforts also reached new heights and for the first time in the
organisation’s history we reached $5 million. These milestones make a huge difference
to reducing youth homelessness and are only possible because of the support from all
our partners and the outstanding team at Kids Under Cover. Achievements like this are
made even more remarkable given the continued uncertainty in the economy and doubt
around longer-term government funding.
With the generous support of our philanthropic partners, regular donors, corporate
supporters and individual donors, we continue to make good progress in building a
diversified revenue base. This support has meant that for the first time, the number
of studios built through private funding is greater than those built through all our
Victorian State Government grants combined.
This year will be my last as Chairman of the Kids Under Cover Board. With my children
getting older and a career opportunity opening up, it’s time to move back to England.
For me that means leaving many wonderful things behind – including Kids Under Cover.
I feel so honoured to have been a part of this organisation over the last five years
and I know they will achieve so much in the future.
I would like to thank my fellow Directors for their phenomenal support, outstanding
governance and passion – you set the platform for the rest of the organisation to thrive.
And to Jo and the fabulous team at Kids Under Cover – you are simply brilliant. Under
Jo’s leadership, the organisation has transformed enabling us to help more young
people than ever before. Your work makes such a fundamental difference to the young
people and families we help. I’m so proud of you all. Thank you for allowing me to be
part of it.
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Finally, on behalf of all the young people Kids Under Cover has supported, I extend
a heartfelt thank you to each and every one of you. You have helped make this year
happen, from volunteers, to building crews, to partners, supporters and donors – we
could not do it without you.
I look forward to tracking future progress from afar, but rest knowing all at Kids Under
Cover will continue to strive for a community where no young person is homeless.

Andy Coleman

For almost 30 years Kids Under Cover has been successfully supporting
young people at risk of homelessness and for the past 15 years I have been
a part of that journey.
This year marks my 10th year as CEO of Kids Under Cover and I continue to be humbled
by the support we receive from our generous donors, partners and, of course, the
Victorian State Government. Similarly, I am humbled and, at times, overwhelmed by
the growing need for our services in the community.
The past 10 years has seen our portfolio of studios grow from 156 to 486 studios live
on the ground as of 30 June 2017. During this time, we have awarded 737 scholarships
to help keep young people connected to education or training ensuring improved longterm outcomes for employment and independent living.

I wish to also make mention of the board who have provided stability, effective
governance and ongoing support over the past 12 months. All directors give their time
generously and I acknowledge and thank them for their leadership and enthusiasm.
Their hard work ensures we are able to achieve inspiring results.

Introduction

Message from
the CEO
Finally, I would like to recognise the tireless work of our Chairman, Andy Coleman,
who has been on the Kids Under Cover Board since 2012. I’m sure I speak for all
the Directors when I say Andy’s commitment to his position as Chairman has been
unwavering. With a genuine passion for making a difference to the lives of young
people, his dedication to the role has been remarkable and for that we thank him.
On a personal level, the support Andy has shown me with his guidance and dedication
to the strategic development of the organisation and my growth as a CEO has been
second to none. Thank you, Andy.

To help meet growing demand we have worked closely with the philanthropic sector
and continued our growth of the Donate Your Car® program. As a result, Kids Under
Cover now builds a greater number of studios through private funding than it is through
the funding from the Victorian State Government.
One of the largest pieces of research we have commissioned came to fruition this year.
We engaged EY (formally Ernst & Young) to conduct a Social Return on Investment
(SROI) analysis of our work undertaken over the last six years. I must say the results
speak for themselves. Every dollar invested in Kids Under Cover creates a social return
of $4.17.

Jo Swift

The cost benefits to the community are felt across many areas including health, justice
and housing. It is my pleasure to provide for you the key findings from the final SROI
report on page 12 for your perusal.
I’m sure you will agree when I say support of the Kids Under Cover Studio Program
is no longer a moral obligation, it’s an economic imperative.
I feel it would be remiss of me not to acknowledge our excitement at reaching a Kids
Under Cover ‘first’ and thank our generous funders, donors, partners and supporters
who have helped us break the $8 million mark ($5 million in fundraising alone). This
result will have a truly life changing effect for many more young people.
It is with a great deal of appreciation I thank and acknowledge the whole Kids Under
Cover team. The dedication and enthusiasm everyone has in working towards the
prevention of youth homelessness is inspirational.
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Treasurer’s Report
It is pleasing to report that during the 2016/17 year Kids Under
Cover experienced an increase of $0.36 million in donations
and gifts, representing an 8.9% increase on the previous year.
For the first time in Kids Under Cover history, total fundraising
revenue reached just over $5 million in a single financial year.
Included in this growth is the Donate Your Car® program which continues
to generate a healthy income stream. Fundraising income from bequests
also increased by $0.42 million.

Management and the board is implementing an investment strategy to maximise
returns, whilst ensuring sufficient safeguards are in place to preserve the
organisation’s asset base.
Our financial strategy continues to focus on securing and further diversifying
our revenue streams to support growth of our existing programs, providing
stability and long-term viability.
I would like to take the opportunity to thank Pitcher Partners, our auditors,
who continue to be generous in providing their time and expertise.

During the 2016/17 year marketing and fundraising costs remained consistent
with the previous year, with a slight increase in management and administration
costs, which is in line with the increase in fundraising.
The surplus for the year increased to $0.2 million from a deficit of $0.5 million
as a result of the increase in fundraising and other income, whilst overall
expenses were in line with the previous year.
Our cash on hand increased by $0.9 million to $7.5 million and net assets
increased marginally by $0.17 million. Maintaining a reasonable level of total
funds and reserves is a conservative measure to ensure sufficient cash reserves
for the ongoing maintenance and care of our studios.
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Alison Tait
Treasurer

funding breakdown 2016/17

Diversifying our income

Introduction

financial snapshot
Where we invested 2016/17
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studio program
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Philanthropic trusts and foundations
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corporate donors

corporate donors
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Investment income

Events
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our
our work
work
youth
homelessness
Young people usually don’t fit the stereotype of
homelessness. They are rarely seen sleeping on
city streets, camped out in tents in a public park,
or in refuges and shelters.

OUR APPROACH TO TACKLING
YOUTH HOMELESSNESS

Many young people couch-surf with friends or extended
family, or cram into overcrowded accommodation. They
may not be sleeping rough, but they’re no less homeless.

We support young people most at risk of becoming homeless
due to overcrowding, family conflict, mental illness, housing
affordability, or a combination of these factors.

Many believe they are better off living away from
home permanently. Sometimes the pressures of an
overcrowded home coupled with the burden of mental
health issues, trauma or grief, mean young people feel
like they don’t have a choice but to leave.

Our aim is to help relieve pressure points for young
people, keep them connected to family and the community,
encourage ongoing education or training, and maintain
social networks and ties to home.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare data shows
38,402 Victorians under the age of 25 sought assistance
from homelessness services last financial year, over 600
more than the previous year. Nearly 40% of Victorians
who sought homelessness help were under the age of 25.
Over 6,000 young Victorians who sought homelessness
assistance last year were couch-surfing.1
Housing affordability also plays a significant role
in homelessness.
Of the more than 67,700 properties listed for rent in
metropolitan and regional parts of Australia (on the
weekend of 1-2 of April 2017), just 29 were affordable
for a young person on Youth Allowance or Newstart2. If
young people feel they can no longer live at home, find
themselves couch-surfing regularly and are unable to
afford to rent a place to live, where are they to go?
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1 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) data
2 Anglicare Australia, 2017, Anglicare Australia Rental Affordability Snapshot, Canberra.

At Kids Under Cover we believe making a difference
starts with prevention.

Kids Under Cover’s pre-emptive work of providing stable,
responsive accommodation for at-risk young people
has delivered proven prevention methods for almost
30 years. Early intervention has been successfully
shown to interrupt the cycle of homelessness, and
is a far more effective strategy both economically
and socially.
In partnership with more than 50 Community Service
Organisations (CSOs), we deliver an early intervention
strategy via our Studio Program.
Complementing our Studio Program, the Kids Under
Cover Scholarship Program ensures young people are
supported to continue with education or training.
Since 1989 it’s been Kids Under Cover’s mission to
provide young people at risk of homelessness the
foundations to strengthen their connection to family,
community, and education.

Prevention and early intervention is
the key to tackling our homelessness crisis.
We have been actively preventing youth
homelessness for almost 30 years.
– Jo Swift, CEO

our work

Studio Program
The Studio Program is at the heart of Kids Under
Cover’s work. Relocatable one- or two-bedroom
(with bathroom) studios are built in the backyard
of a family or carer’s home. The studio provides
secure and stable accommodation for young
people at risk of homelessness.

With over 480 studios currently on the ground
(predominantly in Victoria) we have been able to
support more than 3,000 vulnerable and disadvantaged
young people between the ages of 12 and 25 years.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED
2016/17 financial year deliverables;
• To secure enough funding to build 69 studios to
accommodate the growing demand for our services
and reduce our waiting list
• To streamline our processes and increase our capacity
to support more at risk young people and their families

Our studios support not only young people at risk of
homelessness but families at risk of breakdown, kinship
care and foster carers seeking additional space to
accommodate young people.

• Further develop our studio audit and maintenance program
• Develop and implement Asset Management Strategy

The studio facilitates semi-independent living space for
the young person to study and a space to call their own.
Once the studio is no longer required, it can be relocated
to accommodate another young person in need.

During 2016/17, the Studio Program supported over 700
young people who were being accommodated in one of
486 one-or two-bedroom studios across Australia.

The unique relocatable 6-Star energy efficiency rated
studios are built with Durra Panel, an environmentally
friendly product made from straw without additional
chemical binders. Studios can be constructed and
fully fitted within 10 days. This is thanks to the Ortech
designed flat-packed, pre-assembled frames and a
dedicated build team from Harris HMC.

70 studios were successfully built for young people
at risk of homelessness. Of these 70 studios, 19 were
relocated from previous sites and the remaining 51
were new structures – 36 studios were one-bedroom
with bathroom and 34 consisted of two-bedrooms and
a bathroom. These 70 studios meant Kids Under Cover
could accommodate and support 104 new young people
in this financial year.

Each studio has a life span of up to 20 years, they are
demountable and able to be relocated up to four times.
To ensure studios stay in top condition we monitor our
studios in a formal audit process. The audit data collected
also allows us to improve our budgeting and scheduling
of studio maintenance, ensuring maximum longevity of
the asset.
Long-time studio builder, Trevor McLaughlin, on site in Melbourne’s west.

Constantly reviewing processes and delivering innovative
services ensures the young people we support remain at
the forefront of everything we do. Redesigning the studios
to ensure maximum energy efficiency to improve the
young persons living environment, as well as minimise
heating and cooling costs, has been a large outcome of
our studio evaluation processes.
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The 6-Star energy efficiency rating is achieved by
considering the orientation of the studio on site, improved
ventilation, a sealed subfloor, shading if necessary, double
glazing and additional insulation.
These improvements ensure the temperature fluctuation
in the studio is kept to a minimum.
A new studio audit process was developed during the
2016/17 financial year, in conjunction with an Asset
Management Strategy. This was officially approved
by the Kids Under Cover board in February 2017 and
implemented as part of the Studio Program.

The strategy ensures we are maximising our service
potential and the value of our asset (the studio). It also
considers the life cycle of the studio so we can easily
determine if a studio is suitable for relocation or should
be decommissioned.

studio locations
Metro 36%

Another key component of the strategy is studio
maintenance. Defining a maintenance standard along
with a Maintenance Service Level Agreement with Harris
HMC ensures all maintenance issues with studios are
dealt with as agreed by both parties.
A clear audit template also ensures Harris HMC can capture
accurate information on the condition of a studio and the
work required to meet the agreed maintenance standards.

Regional &
Rural 64%

70

Studios
built

104

NEW YOUNG PEOPLE
ACCOMMODATED

studios 2016/17
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6-Star rated studio.

Live studios as at 30 June 2017

486

Metro studios

25

Regional & rural

45

1-Bedroom studios

36

2-Bedroom studios

34

New studios

51

Relocated studios

19

classification
HASP: Housing & Support Program –
supporting young people who are currently
homeless or at risk of homelessness
At-Risk: Young people currently in or
at risk of placement in out-of-home care
or homelessness
Child Protection: Young people whose
parents are either unable or unwilling
to care for them
Disability: A sensory, physical or
neurological impairment or acquired
brain injury; an intellectual disability or
a developmental delay which may be
permanent, affects everyday life, requires
support and is not related to ageing
(adapted from DHHS Disability Guidelines
and Standards at dhhs.vic.gov.au)

ANGLESEA
BORONIA
BROWN HILL
CALIFORNIA GULLY
COBRAM
CRAIGIEBURN
EPSOM
FRANKSTON
HASTINGS
HASTINGS
HASTINGS
HEALESVILLE
HEIDELBERG HEIGHTS
HILLSIDE
LONG GULLY
MAFFRA
MOOROOPNA
MORWELL
SHELBOURNE
SWAN HILL
TRARALGON
WANDILIGONG
WERRIBEE
WODONGA
BUNINYONG
COOMBOONA
KANGAROO FLAT
MILL PARK
NEWPORT
SEBASTOPOL
SEYMOUR
ST ALBANS
SUGARLOAF CREEK
WENDOUREE
WENDOUREE
WENDOUREE
ALFREDTON
BADGER CREEK
CALIFORNIA GULLY
CRAIGIEBURN
CRIB POINT
ECHUCA
ENDEAVOUR HILLS
FRANKSTON
HAMPTON
HASTINGS
KYABRAM
LONG GULLY
MILL PARK
MOOROOPNA
NORLANE
PASCOE VALE SOUTH
RED CLIFFS
SEYMOUR
SHEPPARTON
SHEPPARTON
ST ALBANS
TORQUAY
WANGARATTA
WESTMEADOWS
WODONGA
WODONGA
WODONGA
COBURG
CORIO
CORIO
GROVEDALE
MOAMA
MT PLEASANT
WODONGA

STUDIO TYPE

1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
1 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom
2 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom – relocated
2 Bedroom – relocated

CLASSIFICATION

At Risk
Child Protection
At Risk
HASP
At Risk
Homeless
HASP
Disability
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
HASP
Child Protection
Child Protection
At Risk
HASP
At Risk
HASP
HASP
Child Protection
Disability
At Risk
Disability
Disability
At Risk
At Risk
Child Protection
HASP
At Risk
HASP
Child Protection
HASP
Disability
HASP
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
Child Protection
HASP
Disability
HASP
At Risk
HASP
HASP
HASP
At Risk
Disability
At Risk
HASP
HASP
Child Protection
At Risk
HASP
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
At Risk
Child Protection
At Risk
Disability
Child Protection
At Risk
Child Protection
At Risk
Child Protection
Child Protection
At Risk
Child Protection

COMMUNITY SERVICES ORGANISATION

Barwon Child Youth and Family
Wesley Mission Victoria
Berry Street
Anglicare Vic
Beyond Housing
Melbourne City Mission
Anglicare Vic
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Peninsula Health
Peninsula Health
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Anchor Inc
Merri Outreach Support Service
Anglicare Vic
DHHS Child Protection
Uniting Care
Beyond Housing
Quantum Support Services
Anglicare Vic
Mallee Family Care
DHHS Child Protection
DHHS Disability
Uniting Care
Beyond Housing
DHHS Disability
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Anglicare Vic
Uniting Care
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Centacare Ballarat
Beyond Housing
DHHS Child Protection
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Uniting Care
Uniting Care
Pinarc Disability Support
Centacare Ballarat
Eastern Access Community Health
DHHS Child Protection
Anglicare Vic
Wellways Australia
Anglicare Vic
DHHS Youth Justice
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Australian Turkish Association
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Melbourne City Mission – Detour
Anglicare Vic
Merri Outreach Support Service
Beyond Housing
Barwon Child Youth and Family
Berry Street
Mallee Family Care
The Bridge Youth Service
Beyond Housing
Beyond Housing
Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency (VACCA)
Barwon Child Youth and Family
Beyond Housing
Uniting Care
Beyond Housing
Beyong Housing
DHHS Child Protection
DHHS
Wathaurong Aboriginal Co-Operative Ltd
Bethany Kinship Care
Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency (VACCA)
Anglicare Vic
Centacare Ballarat
Beyond Housing

our work

1 July 2016 to
30 June 2017
Completed
Studios

SUBURB
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social return on
investmenT

Executive
summary

Supported by EY (formally Ernst & Young), a Social Return
on Investment (SROI) analysis of the Kids Under Cover
programs was undertaken to determine the socio-economic
returns for all stakeholders affected by the issues of youth
homelessness and overcrowding. Returns over a six-year
period from 2010-2016 were considered.
The SROI methodology was used to identify, measure and
value the impacts of the Kids Under Cover intervention for
each stakeholder, including young people and their carers
along with government and community sector partners.
SROI is an internationally recognised, principles-based
approach for understanding and measuring the impacts
of a program or organisation. It provides a framework for
measuring and accounting for the broader concept of value.
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KEY FINDINGS
The findings from the analysis are clear: the Kids
Under Cover Studio Program is effective in achieving
its aim of creating life-changing value for young people
living in overcrowded conditions and who are vulnerable
to homelessness.
• Most of the value of Kids Under Cover’s interventions
is felt directly by those assisted by the Studio or
Scholarship Programs, with EY calculating the social
return for those young people, which equates to over
$30 million over the last six years.
• Kids Under Cover’s benefits are felt more widely than just
by those young people identified as being at-risk. Other
young people over 12 years old within the household
have returned a social value greater than $16 million.
• The social value returned to primary carers
(parent or carer of a young person) was greater
than $9 million.
The evidence provided within the SROI analysis has shown:
•	For every dollar invested in Kids Under Cover over
the past six years, $4.17 of social value is returned.
•	Over six years the Kids Under Cover model generated
$63.129 million of social value.
• The social value returned to the Government and to
Community Service Organisations (CSOs) was more
than $6 million across six years.
• The criminal justice system, health system and
specialist homeless services have benefited through
Kids Under Cover’s early intervention, resulting in
sizeable savings. The homeless service system,
providing emergency or short-term accommodation,
accrues the majority of these savings, relieving
pressure that would otherwise have cost $4 million
over the last six years.

The findings also show a Kids Under Cover intervention
can transform the lives of young people and their carers.
Lives of young people have improved as a result of the
Kids Under Cover Studio and Scholarship Programs.
The greatest improvements in the lives of young people
were in the following ways:
•	Decreased likelihood of homelessness
•	Improved interpersonal relationships
•	Improved emotional wellbeing and peace of mind
(reduced stress, greater safety and identity)
•	Improved independence
For the carers of young people, the results have also been
excellent. The positive outcomes for carers included:
•	Improved interpersonal relationships
•	Improved emotional wellbeing and peace of mind
(reduced stress, more personal time)
•	Improved social inclusion
•	Improved financial health
For Government, the results further evidence
prevention is better than cure. The state makes
sizeable savings in relation to:
• 	Reduced costs in housing services (short term and
crisis accommodation)
• 	Reduced costs to the health system
• 	Reduced costs to the justice system
CSOs that provide support to families also benefit
from the Kids Under Cover interventions. The most
material outcome for CSOs is improved efficiency
(better case-management and capacity) in delivering
their services. CSOs spend less time, on average, with
each family and have more time and ability to support
other families.

Positive Change
How the Kids Under Cover programs
benefit young people
A Kids Under Cover intervention reduces the risk of
homelessness for young people. Young people not only
run away from home less frequently, they also spend
less time away from home. They experience a stronger
sense of stability, due to less overcrowding and an
improved sense of privacy and personal space.
Reduced stress, improved self-image and a greater feeling
of safety are also among the benefits to young people.
They often report they have more time to pursue their
own interests and make plans for their future.

improved privacy
METHOD
For information pertaining to the method and Theory
of Change used for the analysis please refer to the full
executive summary document on our website.

96%

RESULTS
To fully understand the results obtained please refer to
the full executive summary document on our website.
For a copy of the complete EY SROI Report, please
contact us directly.

10%

After the installation of a studio
10% of young people felt they
never, or sometimes had the
space for time alone.
Prior to the studio being built
that figure was 96%.

The Kids Under Cover Studio Program also had a
positive effect on family relationships. Young people
spend more quality time with their family, and conflicts
at home are reduced. Young people also report improved
friendships and social capacity. The studios provide a
welcoming space for them to invite their friends, and the
Scholarship Program allows them to participate in more
curricular activities.

our work

Lives of young people have improved as a result of the
Kids Under Cover Studio and Scholarship Programs. The
greatest improvement in the lives of young people was
that of a better living environment, improved privacy
and reduced crowding.

feeling too crowded

88%

20%

ONLY 20% OF YOUNG PEOPLE THOUGHT
THEIR HOUSE WAS CROWDED AFTER
A STUDIO WAS INSTALLED, compared
with 88% who said the house was
crowded “most of the time or always”
before a studio was built.
The Kids Under Cover intervention has had a substantially
positive effect on young people’s sense of home. It has
helped to reduce the number of times that young people
have run away from home, and the duration of their absence.
It has also had a very positive effect on young people’s
feelings of personal identity, their sense of comfort and
security at home, and their education.
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How the Kids Under Cover programs
benefit the carers of young people
The lives of those who care for young people have been
positively impacted by the Kids Under Cover Studio and
Scholarship Programs. In particular, they report improved
interpersonal relationships, better emotional wellbeing
and peace of mind, increased social inclusion, and better
financial health.

enjoy time
with family

73%

The carers of young people also have better peace
of mind and wellbeing as a result of the Studio and
Scholarship Programs. They are experiencing less
stress — including financial stress — than before. Carers
are also finding the time to pursue their own interests,
with a high percentage saying they now have time for
themselves, a change in their lives they attribute directly
to the Kids Under Cover intervention.
Along with the positive changes in the carers’ personal
lives is an improved sense of social inclusion. A growing
percentage of carers report that they never felt connected
to or supported by their community until they joined the
Kids Under Cover programs.

financial stress

59%
For a copy of the full executive summary document
or the complete EY report, which includes a full list of
assumptions and sources, along with more detailed
calculations, please contact Kids Under Cover directly;

57%

73% of carers enjoy spending
time with their family, compared
with 57% before the studio was built.
The Studio Program has improved family relationships.
Carers spend more quality time with their families and
conflicts at home have been substantially reduced. Now
more carers look forward to spending time with the family,
and it is a much more peaceful environment.

37%

JUST 37% OF CARERS REPORTED
FINANCIAL STRESS AFTER THE STUDIO
WAS BUILT, compared with 59% before
the studio.

The Scholarship Program in particular has been a big
help financially for a lot of carers. Carers who have taken
part in the program report that their finances are in much
better shape and they now have enough support to pay
for the education of the young people in their care. This,
in turn, has a great effect on the quality of life and the
educational prospects of young people in their care.
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E: communications@kuc.org.au
Subject line: SROI Report query
T:

(03) 9429 7444

W:

kuc.org.au

EY is a registered trademark. We have prepared a report for our client, Kids
Under Cover, pursuant to the terms of our engagement letter dated 4 May
2016. We disclaim all responsibility to any other party for any loss or liability
that the other party may suffer or incur arising from or relating to or in any
way connected with the contents of our report, reference to the contents of
our report, the provision of our report to another party or the reliance upon
our report or the contents of our report by another party. Liability limited by
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Kids Under Cover’s strategy of complementing the
provision of studio accommodation with educational
support has proven to be a simple yet effective approach
to the long-term prevention of youth homelessness.
The Scholarship Program helps young people who have
the passion and motivation to continue education, but
don’t have the resources. These scholarships are helping
young people aged 15 to 25 years old continue with their
schooling, TAFE, university and training.

ABOUT OUR SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM

The Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program provides
financial assistance for items such as school books,
stationery, computers, uniforms or fees.
Our scholarships give young people the support they need
to stay in school. This is not just by helping financially
with educational expenses, but also by preventing the
social exclusion that can haunt young people who miss
out on camps, excursions or other school social activities
due to lack of funds.
A scholarship can also provide a young person with
the freedom to choose the subjects they are passionate
about, rather than just those they can afford, thus keeping
them engaged with their studies.
The Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program is available
to young people residing in our studios when enrolled
in school, TAFE, university or training. Their siblings and
any other young people living in the main home are also
eligible to apply.

83% of carers
believe their
family’s level
of financial
stress caused
by education
costs is better
than before
receiving the
scholarship.

The Victorian Government funds this program which is
available for young people in years 11 or 12 at secondary
school or a technical and further education provider (TAFE).

$
$

Education is one of the most important investments
a country can make in the life of its young people;
it is critical to reducing poverty and inequality.
At an individual level, it has a significant positive
impact on a young person’s confidence, selfesteem and employment prospects.
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Scholarship Program
Like the Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program, these
scholarships ensure young people get the support they
need to stay in school and achieve their full potential.
We are really proud to be administering these
scholarships on behalf of DHHS.

The Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship
In addition to the Kids Under Cover scholarships
offered, we also award the annual Ken & Lenka Morgan
Scholarship, named after our founder, Ken Morgan and
his wife. This is a one-off scholarship to the value of
$5,000 which is awarded, in addition to a Kids Under
Cover scholarship, to one exceptional young person
who is supported by our Studio Program.
The scholarship recipient will have demonstrated,
through the application process, exceptional personal
development potential. Each year the applicants are
reviewed by a selection committee and shortlisted for
Ken and Lenka to select a winner.

Department of Health and Human
Services Scholarship Program

Each year Kids Under Cover partners with the Department
of Health and Human Services (DHHS) to administer their
Student Scholarship Program, which supports young
people living in public or community housing or those
at risk of homelessness.
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scholarship program 2016/17
WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Of the applicants 39% are enrolled in post-secondary
studies, with one scholarship recipient studying his
Doctorate, another studying Law and a large majority
enrolled in Bachelor of Arts Degrees.

2016/17 financial year deliverables;

During 2016/17 we effectively administered 230 DHHS
scholarships and awarded these at an official ceremony
held at RMIT University’s Storey Hall in Melbourne.

• Award and efficiently administer the Kids Under
Cover scholarships
• Increase the number of young people taking up
a Kids Under Cover scholarship

In November 2016 Ben Borrelli was awarded the Ken &
Lenka Morgan Scholarship for the 2017 school year.

• Award and efficiently administer the Ken & Lenka
Morgan Scholarship

Ben received $5,000 to assist him in pursuing his dream
to work within the film industry as a movie director.

• Efficiently administer 230 DHHS student scholarships

With the support of the scholarship, Ben went on to enrol
at SAE Qantm (Creative Media Institute) in his first year
of studying an Associate Degree in Film.

During the 2016/17 financial year we awarded 156
young people a Kids Under Cover scholarship. This is
an increase of 20% on the previous year, and 11% more
than our target of 140.
For the first time, this year there was an even split
between male and female recipients.
There were 161 applications submitted for the entire
financial year, of which 156 met the criteria for approval
and were awarded scholarships. Thanks to the financial
support of our philanthropic partners and individual
donors we were able to award 133 full-year and 23
mid-year scholarships.
This past financial year has been an exciting time for the
Scholarship Program team as we reviewed processes
and information from previous years to further develop
and improve our program delivery.
Relationships have been strengthened with the young people
we support along with their carers, enabling us to increase
our understanding of how we can better support them.
This has allowed our Scholarship Program team to better
understand the educational requirements of the young
people we support, meet their needs and identify where
improvements can be made for future scholarship applicants.
New communication avenues were explored, with an
aim to increase the number of young people applying for
a scholarship and therefore increasing the number of
scholarships awarded.
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Scholarship recipients

Ben Borrelli with Ken and Lenka Morgan.

Thanks to greater communication and promotional
strategies, a record number of full-year scholarships
were awarded (133). The mid-year scholarship round
opened in April, for which 23 scholarships were awarded.
The trend over the past three years has been a steady
growth. The demand for our Scholarship Program
continues to steadily increase and we received the
highest number of applications since the program’s
inception over a decade ago.
We continue to manage applications online, ensuring the
administration and payment processes are managed
efficiently and professionally.
We provided financial support for 47 young people
with disabilities enabling them to purchase specialised
equipment needed.

Male
Female
Average age
Metro
Rural
Regional
Indigenous
Refugee background
Non-English speaking background
Disability
Mental health
Learning difficulty
NSW
QLD
ACT
VIC
Secondary school
TAFE/Training
University

78
78
17.1
78
37
41
22
7
16
47
44
42
3
1
5
147
102
34
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The Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship was
introduced in 2013. In the first year, we received
two applications. The program has continued to
grow over the last three years: nine young people
applied in 2015; 29 in 2016; and 18 applications
were received for the 2017 scholarship.

Brittnie
2014 recipient
Six years ago, Brittnie was caring full-time for
her brother, Jesse, who has cerebral palsy and
developmental delay, whilst trying to keep up
with her schooling. When her mother’s alcohol
addiction spiralled Brittnie and her brother went
to live with her nan and aunty.
“We were living on top of each other in the two-bedroom
house with one bathroom”
As you can imagine things were chaotic. Brittnie had no
privacy, the house was cramped and they were constantly
“at each other’s throats.”
Brittnie remembers that time and says “if we hadn’t
been given a studio I would have taken off. I didn’t have
anywhere to go but all of us living in that tiny house was
not working.”
Kids Under Cover installed a two-bedroom studio for
Brittnie and Jesse in April 2009. In the years following
Brittnie received Kids Under Cover scholarships to help
with the costs associated with years 10 and 11 and
finishing year 12.
“Money was stupidly tight. My Nan and Aunty were living
off credit cards, there was no money for much more

than food. I remember filling out my first application for
a scholarship thinking, ‘please, I really need this’. There
were so many things I needed to pay for and I really
wanted to make something of myself.”
Brittnie says she probably wouldn’t have done her VCE
if it weren’t for the help of her scholarships.
Brittnie was announced the winner of the inaugural Ken
& Lenka Morgan Scholarship for the 2014 school year.
Brittnie used the funds from the scholarship to pay for
her attendance at a two-day conference ‘Happiness
and its Causes’, and enrolled in a 12-week educational
program. She also was able to pay for driving lessons so
she could attain her driver’s licence. Since then Brittnie
has gained a Diploma of Nursing and has been working
in aged care for three years.
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Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship
Recipients – Where are they now?
I am about to start the application
process to enrol in a Bachelor of
Nursing for 2018. After that, I’d
love to work at a major hospital like
Western Health and hopefully one
day work as a nurse educator.
We are so proud of Brittnie and what she has achieved
in the last few years and thank her for sharing her story.
Brittnie is a wonderful example of how stable, secure
accommodation coupled with financial support for
education can provide the foundations for a bright future.

Having started out as a personal care assistant, Brittnie is
now working as an enrolled endorsed nurse and loving it.
She is determined to continue to grow both professionally
and personally, and works hard to support her dreams.

I’ve just got back from three weeks
in the US with David where I visited Las
Vegas and New York, spent my birthday
at Disneyland and took a helicopter flight
over the Grand Canyon.
“Visiting Niagara Falls and seeing Cirque du Soleil and
David Copperfield in Vegas were also highlights of the trip.”
Now that Brittnie is back from her “trip of a lifetime” she
is focussing on her plans for the future.
Brittnie and David at Disneyland to celebrate her birthday recently.
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Sarah*
2016 recipient
The last three years have been an incredible
journey for Sarah*, the recipient of the 2016 Ken
& Lenka Morgan Scholarship. She has gone on
to study Environmental Science (Environmental
Management and Sustainability) full-time at
Deakin University.

Having never been on a plane before, Sarah flew to
Tasmania in July 2016 to take part in 10 days of full-time
work experience with two researchers from the University
of Tasmania. After that it was off to the Northern Territory
in late October for her longest placement. Sarah flew in to
help a PhD student with her research on ghost bats, and
didn’t come home until early December.

Sarah received a Kids Under Cover studio in August
2013. Having endured post-traumatic stress as a young
child, Sarah desperately needed her own space at home
otherwise the risk of homelessness was high.

Since graduating in February 2017 Sarah has spent a fair
bit of time volunteering and working, including spending
just over six weeks at a wildlife sanctuary in the desert of
New South Wales volunteering as a fieldwork assistant.

Sarah’s dedication and determination to one day graduate
from university has been remarkable.
Three years after the studio was installed, Sarah was
awarded the 2016 Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship.
The scholarship ensured she could follow her dreams
of graduating with a Degree in Environmental Science.
But that’s not the best part. Sarah not only graduated but
graduated with a distinction!

I’m so thankful to Kids Under Cover
and Ken and Lenka for awarding me
the scholarship for 2016. The money
allowed me to undertake numerous work
placements and travel interstate for the
first time. These placements not only
helped me to complete my degree on time
but gave me further qualifications, putting
me a step ahead of other graduates in
my field. None of this would have been
possible without their support.
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Driving a manual car on sand was
a lot of fun. We did lots of insect and
vegetation surveying and set up camera
trap sites.
Now back in Melbourne, Sarah has been working as
a customer service rep and is looking at applying
for her Masters next year. “There’s a program in the
Northern Territory that I like the look of. I’m also tossing
up doing a three-year stint in the Australian Army as
an Environmental Health Officer and there’s also an
internship program that I’m applying for.”
By the sounds of things Sarah has been making the
most of every opportunity presented to her and has
some terrific options available for her future.
We thank Sarah for sharing her story.
*Name has been changed to protect identity.

Sarah receiving her degree from Deakin University.

Matthew was 15 years old when he and his sister
received a Kids Under Cover two-bedroom studio
in 2007.
With eight children and two adults living in a threebedroom home, a Kids Under Cover studio was a lifeline
for Matthew and his sister, who was in year 11 at the
time. Leaving due to the severe overcrowding at home
looked likely and the only option for the then 15-year-old
would have been youth refuges.
The two-bedroom studio meant Matthew could also be
accommodated to help ensure his future success as he
would be starting year 11 the following year and would
be faced with similar pressures.
Over the years Matthew received the support of a Kids
Under Cover scholarship and at the age of 22 received
the Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship in 2015 to support
his dream of pursuing a career in video production.
Matthew was enrolled in screen and media production
at RMIT, a two-year course which would pave the way
for his future.

The Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship provided financial
assistance for Matthew to purchase an Apple computer
and hard drive with the necessary programs to support
his studies.
Matthew went on to complete a Bachelor of Creative Arts
at La Trobe University at the end of June this year and
is now working full-time as a junior editor with a video
production company. And he loves it.

I have always been a creative person; I
love having parameters to work with and the
best bit is seeing the client’s reaction when
we show them the final product. My dream is
to work my way up to become a producer.

Now that I am working full-time
I have been able to move out and am
sharing a place with some friends I met
through a cabaret show I recently did at
Melbourne Fringe.
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Matthew
2015 recipient

Matthew’s talents extend beyond video production; he
also performs in cabaret shows in his spare time and
plays in a band.
It was great to catch up with Matthew recently to hear
about life after the Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship. We
wish him every success for his future and thank him for
sharing his story.

Matthew remembers his time spent in the studio, and
is extremely grateful for having been given the space to
focus on his studies. “I used the studio to stick to myself,
to study. I was pretty determined to do well at high school
and in VCE. The space helped me to focus on what I really
wanted to do and get the grades I needed to do it.”
He also credits the studio for teaching him to be independent.

Undercover Angel Award 2016
Every day we continue to
be overwhelmed by the
generosity of our kind-hearted
supporters.
For many of our supporters
Kids Under Cover is special. You
support our work because it means
something to you.
Each year we like to recognise one special supporter,
individual or organisation, who has contributed
significantly to our work and helped make a difference.
In November 2016, we recognised Mr Owen Cooper.

Owen first supported Kids Under Cover back in 2007. Over
the years Owen made random donations whenever he
could, from his own hard-earned salary.
Owen’s commitment to supporting young people he
felt were less fortunate than him is admirable. When
Owen first started looking for a charity to support he
had recently moved into a unit. He felt blessed to have
secure housing, enabling him to work, attend university,
and engage with his family and friends. That fortune lead
him to seek out a charity to support which he said “best
represented my fortunate position in society”.
Since then, Owen has single-handedly contributed more
than $12,000 to Kids Under Cover. The equivalent of 12
life-changing Kids Under Cover scholarships.

As his connection to our organisation increased, we
met Owen and learnt just how remarkable he is.
Owen lives with physical disabilities and struggles to
verbally communicate. Owen is also wheelchair bound
– and yet, he says he is the one who is blessed.
Unfortunately, Owen was unable to attend the presentation of
the Undercover Angel award, so our CEO, Jo Swift, accepted
the award on his behalf, praising Owen for his tenacity,
determination, kindness and, most of all, his capacity to love
and care for others he sees as less fortunate than himself.
We are very grateful for the support Owen has shown
Kids Under Cover and his generosity in supporting at-risk
young people.
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Studio Evaluation 2016/17
To properly understand the impact of our early
intervention and prevention model each year we
undertake an evaluation of the Studio Program.
For the past three years we have worked closely with
research company, DBM Consultants, to interview carers
of young people who were residing in a studio.
Eight interviewers spoke with 120 carers, conducting a
10-minute survey across a five-day period. This number
represents 25% of our client base, giving us a solid
understanding of the impact our programs are having
on the young people we support.
These interviews have also provided us with a greater
understanding of the benefits delivered for carers of young
people and the positive changes experienced in family life
since the installation of the studio.
The research showed a strong impact on the well-being of
the young person and family after the studio was installed,
particularly regarding reduced crowding in the house,
increased ability to get along and improvements in the
young person’s achievements at school.

Reduced crowding in family homes

Before the studio was installed 88% said overcrowding in
the main home was an issue, compared with just 8% after
the installation of the studio.
Before the introduction of the studio, nearly nine in 10
houses the young people were residing in (88%) were
deemed overcrowded – 42% severely overcrowded.
Now the studio is on the property, just 2% of these houses
are thought to be severely overcrowded, while 52% are not
overcrowded at all, and a further 40% are a little overcrowded.
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It makes our house more liveable. We had
14 people in a 4-bedroom house. Now they
all have their own space and I know they
are safe.

Before the installation of the studio, just over half of the
families didn’t get on well or got on very badly, with 50%
stating there was daily conflict in the home prior to the
installation of the studio. This proportion has diminished
to just 3% since the studio was installed.

Level of overcrowding in the house
Severely overcrowded
Very overcrowded

42%
2%
47%
7%
11%

A little overcrowded
Not overcrowded at all
Before the studio

I believe it’s kept us all together. Prior
to it being built I really had great fears
that we would break up as a family.

40%
1%
52%
After the studio

Increased level of family harmony

After the installation of the studio, conflict within the home
has been significantly reduced, with carers reporting a
reduction of 40%. Just 30% of carers reported conflict was
an issue within the main home compared with 70% before
the studio.
Conflict on a daily or almost daily occurrence has reduced
substantially since the installation of a studio and 31% of
carers now say there is never any conflict.
Of great note is the positive impact the studio has had on
the whole family’s ability to get along, with 97% of carers
reporting the family’s ability to get along compared with
just 48% prior to the studio being built.

It (the studio) has boosted everyone’s
relationships... The arguments have dropped
to a quarter, just normal every day. No
yelling and screaming in the house, no
smashing of doors.
how often is there conflict in the house
Often conflict
(daily or almost daily)
Occasionally conflict
(e.g. weekly)

57%
7%
13%
23%

A little bit of conflict
(like fortnightly
or monthly)
Never any conflict
Before the studio

20%
39%
10%
31%
After the studio

The aim of the Studio Program is to keep young people at
home in stable and secure accommodation. The recent
evaluation found after the installation of their studio young
people were less likely to be away from home.
Before the studio was built, a fifth of the young people
(20%) were away from the property a lot, without the carer
knowing where they were.
Since installing the studio, just 9% of young people were
spending a lot or a fair amount of time away from the
property compared with 37% prior to the studio. And now,
just 2% of them are away ‘a lot’.

A fair amount of time
away from the property

20%

involvement in risky behaviour

17%
32%

They never leave
the property

32%

48%
43%
After the studio

A reduction in risk-taking behaviour

Risk-taking behaviour is a contributing factor in families
seeking a studio. Many young people engage in risk-taking
behaviour, such as spending long periods of time away from
home, disappearing without notice, drug taking and alcohol
use or risky online activity.
Since the installation of the studio, just 1% of young people
are reported to partake in these behaviours. The advent of
the studio has resulted in a 50% decrease in the number
of young people engaging in risky behaviour (down 30%
to 15%).

Prior to the young person receiving the studio, just 5%
of carers reported them to be always or nearly always
happy. Since the installation of the studio this number
has increased to 42% (around four in ten young people).

9%
the general mood of the young person

10%
4%

Never happy
11%
10%

Sometimes

8%

His mental stability is better, and he’s
home a lot now, he’s learning life skills.
He’s very content. He’s got some hobbies,
like golfing and writing poems. He’s just a
different boy. He used to be quite suicidal;
that’s settled down.

1%

Occasionally

2%

Hardly any time away
from the property

Before the studio

They are home a lot more now. I think
because they have their freedom in the
studio, on their own. I know where they
are and what they are up to now.
Often

time spent away from home
A lot of time away
from the property

After the studio, 80% of the young people never take part in
risk-taking behaviour and carers are far more likely to know
where the young person is. Prior to the studio only 57%
abstained from this type of behaviour.
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Keeping young people connected
to family

33%
0%
41%

Occasionally happy

14%

13%

Never

5%
Before the studio

22%

Usually happy

44%

After the studio
Always or nearly
always happy

Improving the general mood
of young people

Most importantly, the installation of a Kids Under Cover
studio has had a tremendous effect on the mood and
demeanour of young people.

Before the studio

5%
42%
After the studio

Keeping young people connected
to education

Young people are feeling more optimistic about the future
after the installation of the studio.

The Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program can have a
huge positive effect on many aspects of a young person’s
mindset and educational outcomes.

The mood of the young people has lifted greatly since the
studio was built. Previously one third (33%) were described
as ‘never happy’. During the evaluation process, it was
discovered that not one young person has this level of
despondency now.

During the evaluation carers were also asked about the
young person’s level of attendance at school, TAFE or
university to determine the effect the studio has had on
the educational outcomes.
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Improving attendance at school

The improved living conditions resulting from the
installation of a studio have had a dramatic effect on
reported school attendance.
Attendance at educational establishments has increased
a great deal since a studio was installed. Prior to the
installation only 57% of young people were meeting the
required level of attendance, compared with 88% after
a studio was installed.
The additional space of the studio – a space to study, plan
and have some alone time – has meant now young people
are at least going to school, TAFE or university. Prior to the
studio, 14% were not (one in seven).
The educational performance of the young people has
improved greatly since the installation of the studio. Having
a private space to study, uninterrupted, has resulted in a
significant increase in the perceived level of achievement
attained by the young person.
This level of achievement is reflected in the overall change
in the young person, which from the carer’s perspective is
attributed to overall academic and personal achievements.
Since the studio was installed, instances of young people doing
quite or very well educationally has doubled from 45% to 90%.
school attendance
Not going to school/
TAFE/uni at all
Rarely meeting the
required level of
attendance
Not always meeting
the required level
of attendance
Meeting the required
level of attendance
Before the studio
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14%
0%
12%
3%

She attended school every day and was
doing really well. She has graduated and is
doing work experience – it’s a complete
turnaround from where she was. She’s set
up a long-term future for herself.
This indicates that living conditions can greatly affect the
potential of the young person. Having space enabled the
studio occupant to reflect and establish goals for the future.
Not only are the young people improving academically, they
are also able to focus on themselves and their personal
growth. The studio has also enabled some to overcome
mental health issues and focus on a positive future.

Positive outcomes from the
Scholarship Program

The Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program has provided
many positive outcomes for the young people, their carers
and wider family.
More than eight in 10 carers believe their family’s level of
financial stress caused by education costs is better than
before receiving the scholarship.
Up to 63% of carers reported the young person’s attendance
level has improved since receiving the scholarship and the
vast majority of carers report a greater ability to purchase
the necessary school or course requirements since
receiving their scholarship.
outcomes since the scholarship
Attendance

16%
9%
57%
88%
After the studio

Ability to purchase
necessary school or
course requirements
Financial Stress

46%

17%

34%

81%
7% 10%
59%

24% 17%

Much better

A little better

The same

Worse

An optimistic future

Since the installation of the studio, more than half the
carers interviewed now say they are very optimistic about
the young person’s future. Prior to the studio just 17% of
carers felt this way.
Pessimism is declining because of the intervention of the
studio. Prior to the installation of the studio 13% reported
feeling ‘very pessimistic’ about the young person’s future.
Now, no carer is feeling ‘very pessimistic’ and just 5% are
‘somewhat pessimistic’.
General optimism about the future of the young people has
increased from 38% to 86%.
With 57% of carers now very optimistic about the future
of the young person living in the studio.

It (the studio) has had a really good
effect on her mental health and feeling
of independence. She feels more valuable
because she has her own space. She is
more positive about learning, and has more
confidence to achieve because someone
believed in her.
The studio has improved all our lives,
100%. When he gets angry and frustrated
now he goes into the studio to calm down,
there’s no fights inside the house. He doesn’t
do drugs now and he has hope. Without it I
have no idea where we would be today.
We are extremely grateful for the ongoing support we
receive from the entire team at DBM Consultants and
acknowledge their generosity with thanks.

Jen Borrelli has been supporting young
people at risk of homelessness for
12 years she has been a foster carer
to over 30 foster children, from babies
to teenagers.
From an early age Jen knew her future was in caring for
young people. Having volunteered as a teenager in a boys’
home she felt compelled to make a difference when she
was older and “had my own home to open it to kids.”
If the fact Jen has fostered more than 30 young people is not
remarkable enough, Jen also has three children of her own,
aged 19, 22 and 24, who have supported her through it all.

“I was taking in a lot of babies, drug-addicted newborns
that would cry a lot – they definitely take over the home.
And when you’ve got teenagers who are trying to study
and other children who need a quiet space to get away,
well, our house just wasn’t big enough.”
The installation of the Kids Under Cover studio helped
Jen manage having foster children as well as her own
teenagers. The studio provided a retreat for her two boys.
It gave them some peace and quiet and a place to hang out
with their friends so they could be like normal teenagers.
“Without the studio, my ability to take in foster care children
would have been limited. I would have had to put it on hold
until my own kids moved out.”

People often say to me “Oh you must
be an angel”, and I say, no, I’m not, that’s
not how we are, we are just a family, we just
do what we do without thinking about it.

In a worst case scenario, an overcrowded home could have
been too much for her own children and one or all three
may have felt they needed to leave so Jen could continue
to care for some of Victoria’s most vulnerable children.
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Over a decade of support for foster kids

Deservingly, Jen was recognised with the title of Barnardo’s
Mother of the Year in 2012, a title she is proud of even if she
believes unnecessary.

There’s no better feeling in the world
than knowing a child has come into your
home that evening, and their needs have
been met. Whether that’s with a meal at
the table or being bathed and given clean
clothes. Getting to sleep in a bed with a
pillow and a blanket, knowing this little
person is not out there alone.
“It doesn’t matter if you gave birth to these kids or not, you
love them just as much, sometimes more, because you
want them to know they are loved.”

In April 2008, Kids Under Cover supported Jen and her
family with a two-bedroom studio.
With six young people (three of which were foster care
placements), in the three-bedroom, one bathroom family
home, having two additional bedrooms and an extra
bathroom made an enormous difference for the entire
family, and relieved a great deal of pressure.

Jen is a wonderful advocate for the Kids Under Cover
Studio Program, and believes without a doubt the practical
support of a studio has prevented many young people from
entering the cycle of homelessness.

Jen talks about what it was like before the studio, and you
can only imagine the overcrowding in the family home. “The
place was filled to the rafters. My two eldest children were
struggling to find a quiet place to study and just relax.”
Jen Borrelli at home.
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Growing our social profile
Raising broader community awareness of our
work and the issue of youth homelessness is
imperative in our fight towards a community
where no young person is homeless.

The Kids Under Cover website continues to provide a source
of information about our work and youth homelessness.
Overall the website saw traffic increase by 10% on the
previous year, with over 130,000 visitors in the 2016/17
financial year.

How we communicate with our stakeholders, supporters
and the wider community is changing.

Of those visitors 70% were brand new to Kids Under Cover.

The digital landscape has transformed significantly over the
past decade, seeing the need for the way we communicate
and fundraise to evolve.
In a world where we have technology at our fingertips and
many of us are time poor, there has been a shift in the way
we consume and digest information.
There are currently 2.8 billion social media users worldwide.
This means over a third of the world’s population is using
some form of social media to communicate, so of course
improving our engagement with supporters has become
more important than ever before.
Our largest fundraising event, the Cubby House Challenge®
is designed not only to raise funds but also, very importantly,
to raise awareness of our work, of youth homelessness and
to engage the wider community.
We are active in our quest to secure media coverage of this
event to increase brand awareness and our profile.
For the 2017 Cubby House Challenge® event we were
lucky enough to receive some excellent coverage thanks
to our PR partner, RIIS Strategic and some high-profile
judges and personalities. Media coverage goes hand in
hand with social media.
In the lead up to, during and after the event our reach and
profile on all social media platforms increases dramatically.
So too do visitors to our website.
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Donate Your Car® has also assisted in growing our brand
in states outside of Victoria and the Donate Your Car®
webpage remains the most visited page on our website
with close to 60,000 visits in the last financial year.

Our social media presence grew significantly during the
2016/17 financial year. Taking a more proactive approach
on Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn and Instagram saw an overall
growth of 42% across the four platforms.
Improving our messaging and increasing engagement
has impacted positively on our social media following,
contributing to an increase in website traffic, brand
awareness and online support.
In line with growing our digital presence and a desire
to reach more supporters we further developed our
Undercover News newsletter, creating an online version
and electronic mail version for distribution. This has also
resulted in a reduction of print and postage costs for the
organisation and reduced our environmental impact.

social
media

AS AT
30 JUNE 2017

website
traffic

10%
increase
on 2015/16 FY

Over
130,000
visitors

70% brand new
to Kids Under Cover

53%

36%
from

from desktop

mobile

11%

from tablet

42%
increase

on 2015/16 FY

4,628 followers
2,105 followers
695 followers
702 followers

and growing!

Most popular page visited on the
website: Donate Your Car®
– almost 60,000 visitors

Keep up to date with news and events,
follow us on social media and make
sure your email address is current
and on our database.

Meet Dave and Liz Robson
It was a delight to catch up with Dave and Liz
Robson recently to chat about their interest in
seeing young people given every opportunity to
thrive, fundraising events, and the instigation of
a giving circle named in their honour.
Dave and Liz were introduced to the work of Kids Under
Cover back in 2015. After investigating the activities of
the organisation and being impressed with the hands-on
approach in delivering results for young people, it was then
they decided to do something more.
In November 2015 Dave and Liz held a fundraising event
in support of Kids Under Cover.
“We used to own a vineyard in the Victorian Pyrenees.
Each year we would make some wine under a personal
label and sell to friends at an annual wine release event.
When we sold the vineyard, our friends expressed
disappointment and were always asking when the next
event would be held, so we decided to hold one for Kids
Under Cover.”
Little did they know then, that this would be the start of
a long-standing relationship and continued support for
young people at risk of homelessness.
The kindness and care the couple show each other and the
love they share after almost 50 years of marriage provides a
solid foundation for their commitment to making a difference.
And making a difference to the lives of young people
became the catalyst for the inception of the Robson Giving
Circle in May 2016.
“I’ve been in education all my life, and you see it all the
time – young people drop out of school and then you see
them in trouble. Homelessness is a big issue, and what you
do at Kids Under Cover is so practical. The idea of a young
person having a home and independence is the key to
keeping kids at home,” says Dave.

“This is what we love about your work, it’s practical.”
The couple have always supported charities, making
regular donations to large charity organisations like
UNICEF, but what they love about Kids Under Cover is
the programs help young people in “our own backyard,
you see a bit more of the end result,” says Liz.

These other organisations are big
organisations, and that’s ok, but it’s nice
to be able to make a difference in our own
community too.
Any bit of uncertainly they had about supporting Kids
Under Cover flew out the window the minute they attended
a studio visit, meeting a foster carer who had cared for
more than 100 children.

“Each member of the giving circle loves the regular updates
and look forward to our get-togethers. They really value
hearing how their contribution is helping young people.”
With Dave’s background in education, and Liz having
worked as a nurse her whole life, supporting scholarships
makes sense to the couple.
“How many times do families need money to send the kids
on school trips or they need the latest pair of shoes so they
don’t look different to any other kid.”
Being able to support these young people through the
giving circle is a great testament to the generous nature
of Dave and Liz.
We are extremely grateful for the support of all members
of the Robson Giving Circle and thank Dave and Liz for their
belief in what we do.

With a family of their own, including grandchildren, the
studio visit really touched them.
“We remember meeting this lady with such an open heart.
And I thought, if we can help people like her who are doing
the hard yards then that’s the least we can do.”

Deciding to ask our friends to support
the idea of a giving circle was the logical
next step for us.
And so, they did. Reaching out to friends, former colleagues,
even neighbours in their apartment building, Dave and Liz
formed the Robson Giving Circle.
Now with 28 members, each contribute regular monthly
donations of $10 to $20. This past financial year the
group donated $4,800 to support the Kids Under Cover
Scholarship Program.
Dave and Liz at the 2016 Kids Under Cover Annual Celebration event.
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our funding
Kids Under Cover has several funding streams,
with a strong focus on diversification.
In the 2016/17 financial year, the funding
streams were as follows:
Government funding

33%

$2,695,370

Individual donors

27%

$2,157,325

Philanthropic trusts and
foundations

22%

$1,818,126

Corporate donors

6%

$476,872

Bequest

6%

$447,809

Investment income

4%

$340,183

Events

2%

$151,010

victorian
government
support
During the 2016/17 year Kids Under Cover continued to
foster a strong and positive relationship with the Victorian
State Government. We are grateful for and recognise the
support we receive from The Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) and the Victorian Property Fund
(VPF). The financial support granted to our organisation
helps to fund studio builds for young people and families
throughout metropolitan and regional Victoria.
Victorian State Government funding contributed 33%
of our total income for the 2016/17 financial year – just
over $2.5 million in funding for our Studio Program.

Individual donors include: individual and regular donors;
community fundraisers; workplace giving; and Donate
Your Car® funds.

DHHS has committed to providing funding of $1.25 million
per annum for four years (2015/19), which will enable us
to build 22 studios each year for young people at risk of
homelessness. The 2016/17 financial year was the second
year of the four-year funding agreement and so far, we have
built 44 studios in metropolitan and regional Victoria under
this arrangement.

Corporate donors include: donations and funds received
from organisations, Donate Your Car® donations from
organisations and council contributions and funds
provided for corporate studio builds.

In addition to the 22 studios per year, DHHS supports a
partnership with Melbourne City Mission called Detour.
Detour provided funding for the construction of eight
studios in 2016/17.

Investment income includes: sale of assets.

The VPF awards grants for property-related purposes
which includes projects that secure more affordable housing
for low income and disadvantaged people in the state.

Government funding includes: The Department of Health
and Human Services and the Victorian Property Fund.

The 2016/17 financial year was the last year of our threeyear funding arrangement with VPF which saw 21 studios
built for families in need.
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Kids Under Cover sincerely thanks the Victorian State
Government for the ongoing support we receive and
welcomes the opportunity for additional partnerships and
ventures to help in our quest for a community where no
young person is homeless.

Philanthropic
Partners
Donations and grants from philanthropic bodies plays a
strong role in helping us achieve our vision of a community
where no young person is homeless. These special
partnerships enable us to have a greater impact and ensure
the longevity of the programs we deliver. In 2016/17 Kids
Under Cover was fortunate to receive financial contributions
from around 50 public and private trusts and foundations.
We are humbled by the faith our philanthropic supporters
place in our work, and are committed to developing these
relationships further to facilitate greater benefits for young
people at risk, well into the future. The following is just a
snapshot of the tremendous support received.

Joe White Bequest

Joe White was born in 1873 in Ballarat, by the time he was
19, he had joined his father’s business, Crane and White
Maltsters, to learn the art of making malt. At 23, upon
his father’s death, Joe took over and renamed the thenstruggling business, and under his leadership it prospered.
In conjunction with his burgeoning business, Joe was
active in local community activities and charitable
endeavours, and subsequently moved from Ballarat
to Melbourne, settling in Brighton.
In 1951, the company was floated as a public company under
the name of Joe White Maltings Limited with Joe as Chairman
and Managing Director. When he died in 1959 aged 86, the
Joe White Bequest was born to ensure the continuation of his
strong commitment to community and charity.
Nearly 60 years on, the Joe White Bequest has distributed
over $30 million to Victorian hospitals, benevolent
institutions and charities, establishing itself as one of
the state’s most long-standing philanthropic entities
and changing the lives of countless Victorians.
Kids Under Cover have been a grateful beneficiary of the
Joe White Bequest’s support since 2008. During that time,
it has fully or co-funded the build of 12 Kids Under Cover

In 2016 the Bequest’s grant fully funded the construction of a
new one-bedroom studio in Hastings, and contributed to the
build of another two studios, one in Hillside and another in
Brown Hill.
The Brown Hill studio provided accommodation for a single
mother and her three children escaping domestic violence.
After time in refuges, the fractured family was finally
able to secure public housing. Though the home was too
small, it at least provided a chance to sink some roots in a
new community; but recovery from the past trauma in an
overcrowded space was proving too much for the oldest of
the three children. Only the provision of a Kids Under Cover
studio ensured the family could remain together to heal.
The support of the Joe White Bequest for Kids Under Cover
has enabled this family, and many others, to start anew, and
in the process, offer young people recovering from trauma
and experiencing disadvantage to maximise their potential.
And for this, Kids Under Cover is forever grateful.

Wood Family Foundation

The Wood Family Foundation was established in 2005 by the
generosity of Mr James and Mrs Margaret Wood with the
specific purpose of “providing support where needed”.
Arriving in Australia from England, via New Zealand, they
worked hard which bought some success. James and
Margaret believed they had been fortunate in life and wanted
to give back to the community and accordingly set up the
Wood Family Foundation. It is run solely by family members.
It was James and Margaret’s wish that the foundation live
on in perpetuity, providing support for Australians in crisis,
ensuring environmental sustainability, funding much needed
medical research and assisting third world communities.
The Wood Family Foundation is proud to be a long-term
contributor to Kids Under Cover, supporting young people
who are potentially at risk of a lifetime of poverty.
With support stretching back over 10 years, the foundation
has provided grants to Kids Under Cover on an almost
annual basis, co-funding numerous studios across Victoria,
including in Morwell, Bundoora, Cockatoo, Wendouree,
Wangaratta and Hastings.

The foundation’s impact has been significant. As a direct
result of their generosity, six young people have been
diverted from the risk of homelessness. Indirectly, each
of their families have also benefited from the additional
space provided, minimising the chance of those families
breaking down.

The foundation first resolved to support Kids Under Cover
in 2012, and as one director said: “We have been part of this
journey with Kids Under Cover for six years now because
it continues to address the needs of disadvantaged youth
in a very specific way. The people involved are committed,
enthusiastic and professional, and above all get results.”

The studio enabled by the Wood Family Foundation on the
Mornington Peninsula in 2016 meant a 19-year-old young
man with a troubled and complex upbringing could access
secure and stable accommodation for the first time in
many years.

To build the understanding between funder and charity, the
directors accepted an invitation to visit a Kids Under Cover
studio in 2013. Here they met the young people residing
in the studio and their grandmother, seeing first-hand the
impact a studio can have on a young person’s life, and by
extension, the whole family. The reassurance and validation
gained from the studio visit, in the words of the directors,
“won us over”, and saw subsequent donations provided in
2013, 2014 and 2015.

Overcrowding in the family home, coupled with mental
health issues, and a fractured family life impacted by
domestic violence, placed him at significant risk of
homelessness. A one-bedroom studio co-funded by the
Wood Family Foundation and three other philanthropic
supporters provided this young man with a sanctuary near
his mother and younger siblings, helping to eliminate the
risk of future family breakdown.
Kids Under Cover is humbled by the long-term confidence
the Wood Family Foundation has placed in our vision of a
community where no young person is homeless, and hopes
to continue working together towards this goal in the future.

The Flew Foundation

Contrary to some perceptions, philanthropy is not about
donating money. It’s about building relationships and trust,
with view to achieving a shared social purpose.

our funding

studios, providing vital accommodation for over 20 young
people formerly at risk of homelessness.

Afterward they attended the Cubby House Challenge®
auction event in 2016, and not only witnessed the excitement
of the auction, but had the opportunity to meet with other
supporters of Kids Under Cover.
The support from the Flew Foundation extended into both
2016 and 2017, with the most recent donation co-funding the
build of a one-bedroom studio in Bairnsdale. This 2017 Flew
Foundation donation is being coupled with funds from three
other philanthropic supporters to enable the studio build.
In doing so, it embodies Kids Under Cover’s desire for true
partnerships with its philanthropic supporters, and a shared
vision of a community where no young person is homeless.

It is no accident the word ‘trust’ permeates the philanthropic
landscape. A philanthropic gift is ultimately a leap of faith,
and if a charity can honour this commitment, then together
the two parties can make a world of difference. Kids Under
Cover’s emerging relationship with the Flew Foundation is
a salient example of this.
The Flew Foundation is a small family entity established
in 2003. The foundation’s purpose is to assist in areas of
community need where they can make a difference, being
conscious of rural as well as urban issues, with a preference
to work with visionary and professional organisations that
focus on youth and target specific medical research needs.
The foundation gives emphasis to issues where opportunity
is compromised by circumstance.
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Donate
Your Car®

4,438

Donate Your Car® is Kids Under Cover’s very
own social enterprise initiative. It’s the hasslefree way to get rid of an old or unwanted vehicle,
while making a valuable donation to help prevent
youth homelessness.
The online donation form is quick and easy. We collect the
vehicle for free, our friends at Manheim auction it, you get
a tax-deductible receipt and Kids Under Cover receives
100% of the sale proceeds.
Since 2006 the Donate Your Car® program has received
more than18,000 donations – and not just cars. We take
boats, trailers, bikes, lawn mowers, even buses! We
accept any vehicle, any make, any model, any year, it
all makes a difference.

Of all cars
donated:

11%

green

2%

Number
of cars
donated in
2016/2017

18%

0.15%

8%

1.5%

car
donations
by state

25%
62%

23%

blue

white

21%

silver

donateyourcar.org.au

In 2016/17 the most successful
donation was a 2007 Toyota
Hiace auctioned for
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$18,000

The oldest car was a blue 1964
Morris Minor donated in late 2016.
It sold for $1,800
The quirkiest donation received was
a Massey Ferguson tractor which
sold for $3,000

1%

our funding

Donate Your Car® brings
communities together
For more than ten years, the Donate Your Car®
program has been one of the driving forces
behind Kids Under Cover’s work in preventing
youth homelessness.
Since the early beginnings, the communities have come
together in a way we could not have imagined, donating
more than 18,000 cars, boats and trucks to give young
people hope for a brighter future.
As a long-term partner of Kids Under Cover, Moreland
City Council continue to demonstrate their commitment
to support at-risk young people in the community, raising
awareness of the issue of youth homelessness and have,
to date, raised more than $315,000 by donating over 800
unwanted vehicles.
They work hard to ensure young people don’t become the
face of homelessness in Australia by encouraging their
residents to make a difference by donating their unwanted
vehicles. When Moreland City Council resident, Shirley, 50,
noticed an impoundment notice on her old Hyundai, she
was thrilled to learn her council collaborates with Kids
Under Cover through the Donate Your Car® program.
“I didn’t actually notice that the sticker said Kids Under
Cover so I was really surprised when I called the number
and realised you were a charity. I would much rather see
my car go to Kids Under Cover than sell it to the wreckers
so it was a great outcome,” said Shirley, who recommends
Donate Your Car® to anyone wanting to do something
meaningful with their unwanted vehicle.

Together, partners like Moreland City Council and people like
Shirley make it possible for Kids Under Cover to help young
people like Kate* and her baby. Residing in an overcrowded
two-bedroom house with other family members, there was
no privacy and the pressure on Kate was enormous, making
the prospect of homelessness very likely.
With nowhere else to go, Kate desperately needed her own
space. Thanks to a Kids Under Cover studio, installed in the
family’s backyard, Kate now has a quiet place for her baby
to sleep and space to concentrate on her studies. And with
the studio now in place, Kate is eligible to apply for a Kids
Under Cover scholarship.
For Kate and her family, the studio has been truly lifechanging, giving her and her young family hope for a
brighter future. Kids Under Cover have 12 studios in the
City of Moreland and we couldn’t have done it without the
council and community’s support, thank you.
*name has been changed to protect identity

Thank you to our 2016/17
Donate Your Car® partners
Australasian Fleet Management Association
Banyule City Council
Hume City Council
Manheim
Moreland City Council
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cover story
STUDIO BUILDS THE FOUNDATION
FOR SPORTING SUCCESS
Aliesha and Teagan are just like all sisters. They
fight over time in the bathroom, they tease each
other and they are fiercely competitive.
Their rooms look just like most teenager’s rooms – a
bit messy and full of a collection of fashion runners and
pictures on the walls.
But their rooms are a little different to most. The sisters have
been living in a Kids Under Cover studio for the past two years.
The girls had their world turned upside down in 2009 when
their mum, Noraine, started caring for two siblings, aged
just one and three years old at the time. The siblings had
been removed from their father by The Department of
Health and Human Services after the death of their mother.
Three years later Noraine also had a 10-day old baby
placed in her care.
Life had been extremely difficult and almost unbearable
for the girls since their Mum took on the care of the three
younger extended family members.
Prior to receiving their studio, Aliesha was sleeping in the
lounge room of the family’s small three-bedroom Office
of Housing home with her mum Noraine and the baby.
With three small children, all under 10 years of age, plus
Aliesha, then aged 19 and Teagan, 17, the tension in the
house was sky high.
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“We had six people living in a three-bedroom house, with
one bathroom. I was sleeping in the lounge room with
Aliesha and the baby. Teagan had her own room, and the
other two children each had a room,” remembers Noraine.
The house was in a constant state of chaos; it was noisy
all the time, there was never enough room, even to just
move around, and there was absolutely no privacy for
Noraine or Aliesha.

The loungeroom floor had two makeshift
beds and a cot. Every morning we would
have to pack up the beds to make some
room. All my stuff was in the lounge room
too, so Teagan could use my room, and
Aliesha, well her stuff was all packed up in
a wardrobe so she couldn’t even find things
most of the time.
The addition of the children to the household caused
significant overcrowding in the small home. The chaotic
conditions of the home led to high levels of conflict a
great deal of the time.

Two of the young children have behavioural issues
arising from trauma experienced when they were only
young, along with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
(ADHD). One had also been diagnosed with generalised
anxiety disorder. Most of Noraine’s time was spent
dealing with their behavioural issues, which included
angry and violent outbursts. They often destroyed the
furniture and stole belongings from Aliesha and Teagan.
At the time of applying for the studio, Teagan was in Year
12. She was frequently forced to study at school or at the
library because of the difficulties in finding a peaceful
space at home to concentrate. Both Aliesha and Teagan
were talented sportswomen, representing their state in
their respective sports, but their home environment was
beginning to have a negative impact psychologically on
their sporting performance.

We had reached crisis point, and I
thought Aliesha and Teagan might leave.
The studio gave us light at the end of
the tunnel.
Since moving into their Kids Under Cover studio, the girls
have excelled.
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The studio not only gave the girls
space, it made me feel like I could
finally give them what they needed.
Teagan was doing VCE and finding
it difficult to study and Aliesha
was working full time. The girls had
nowhere to relax and unwind, and I
was afraid at some point they might
not come home at all.

These days things are a whole lot better. Teagan
successfully passed Year 12 and went on to study dental
nursing, and both girls are now working full-time. No
easy feat considering the upheaval injected into their
world all those years ago.
Most excitingly, both are on the verge of making it big
in their chosen sports.
In February 2017, Aliesha debuted in the inaugural
season of the AFLW, running onto the field as part of the
Melbourne Football Club’s very first women’s team. She
has also just been named in the 2018 team and is about
to start pre-season training, “leaving not much time for
anything else.”

“My friend actually barracks for Melbourne, so we decided
to go along for a laugh,” says Aliesha. “Then the coach
asked me to come back and have a kick, and well, the
rest is history,” laughs Aliesha.
And for Teagan, success has come just as quickly. Having
made extraordinarily fast progress, the 19-year-old is
now succeeding as a weightlifter with the Hawthorn
Weightlifting Club, competing within the Junior League.
Just over a year ago Teagan decided to take up the sport
to strengthen her athletics career in which she excelled
at the discus and hammer throw.

I had a chat with my track and field coach
about maybe taking up weightlifting and now
it seems that’s where my future is.
Since taking up the sport Teagan competed at the 2016
National Championships, finishing in fourth place in her
division. Teagan then went on to represent Victoria earlier
this year and took out the 69-75kg class after lifting 137kg!
Determined to do the best she can, Teagan made the trip
to the Gold Coast in September 2017 after earning a place
on the Australian team at the Commonwealth Oceania
Junior Championships.
So, how did she go? “Oh, I got a couple of medals,”
she quietly tells us. Teagan came home from the
championships with two silver medals, and an eye
on the 2020 Olympics in Tokyo.
But first she has the Junior World Championships
in 2018 to conquer.
And when asked about her career as a dental nurse?
Teagan says, “I just can’t fit it in. I train six times a
week and when I’m not training I’m either at the gym
or competing.
“I’m happy with my job at Australia Post, for now. I don’t
really have the time for much more.”
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(Photo by Robert Leeson/Herald Sun)

For Teagan, she is not fazed by her big sister’s pending
fame on the footy field. “While she might be playing in the
AFLW, I plan on winning gold at the Olympics,” she laughs.

The girls are incredibly humble when it comes to their
sporting success.
Teagan still rides a bicycle for her Australia Post mail
deliveries. “It keeps me fit and I love being active.”
As for Aliesha, “my dream job would be to work outside.
I’m not good sitting at a desk all day inside. I’ve got way
too much energy. “
And that she does. Aliesha is a little pocket rocket on the
footy field.
At just 158cm it’s no wonder Noraine fears the worst
when she runs head-on into play.
“When she goes down I close my eyes and just say “get
up, get up” – it’s nerve racking.”
Aliesha explains, “I had never played Aussie rules footy
before. Mum always said I was ‘too small’ so steered
me towards soccer. I played soccer for seven years and
Teagan and I have always been involved with athletics
and other team sports. I know a lot about footy, but hadn’t
played a lot, so that is my focus now,” says Aliesha.
Since the arrival of the studio in late 2015, the girls’
general happiness has improved and having their own
space away from the chaos of the family home enabled
them to remain connected to family and follow their
dreams, whilst giving their mum some peace of mind.
These days the fights are not as explosive or as often.
They still fight over the bathroom though, and Noraine
says, “sometimes they even come inside to use the
bathroom when the other is taking too long or has used
all the hot water.”
Before the installation of the studio, never did Noraine
think she would be standing on the sidelines cheering her
eldest daughter on as she represented the Melbourne
Football Club. Nor did she think she would one day be
sitting in the stands watching Teagan represent Australia
in weightlifting.
“I am beyond proud of the girls,” beams Noraine.
As for the future? Well, this dynamic duo proves
with the right support, at the right time, anything
is possible.

Aliesha and Teagan with mum Noraine and Baxter. (Photo by Robert Leeson/Herald Sun)
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Building Strong & Lasting Partnerships
Kids Under Cover’s best partnerships deliver
measurable benefit to the corporate organisation,
and offer genuine impact and value towards our
program delivery for disadvantaged young people.
We are committed to doing this well and, as a result, have
renewed some of our most valued partnerships during
2016/17 and welcomed some new businesses to the Kids
Under Cover family.
Our long-term relationship with Incolink began with
the provision of office space for Kids Under Cover in our
formative years, followed by many years of financial support
and advocacy. The young people we support continue to
benefit from the trust and dedication of the board of Incolink.
Their contributions over the past 25 years have enabled us
to deliver our programs efficiently and their legacy will be a
strong and sustainable one for Kids Under Cover.
This year we celebrated three wonderful years with Porter
Davis and we are excited to announce a renewed three-year
commitment to each other. Not only does this partnership
help fund a brand new studio each year but their continued
involvement in our Cubby House Challenge® and workplace
giving program is having an enormously positive impact on
at-risk young people within the broader community.

In June 2017, they generously donated $12,000 to support
our Studio and Scholarship Programs.
Our relationship with BHA has also inspired their staff to
make a difference, with one employee donating his car to our
Donate Your Car® program. We look forward to growing this
partnership in the years ahead.
Our generous corporate partners demonstrate the power
of corporate Australia to make a very real difference to
families and their support is greatly appreciated, but it’s
not just businesses that make great partners. We also
have some valuable relationships with industry groups and
other associations who continue to deliver great outcomes
year after year. Organisations like the Australasian Fleet
Management Association (AFMA).
We have been invited to exhibit at the Australasian Fleet
Conference & Exhibition for the last two years.
The conference is the fleet industry’s most anticipated event
of the year, and gives us a unique opportunity to speak with
attendees about Donate Your Car®, raise awareness, and
forge new partnerships.
One such partnership born from the event is with Kmart
Tyre & Auto Service, who have recently signed up to
officially support the Donate Your Car® program.

Our partnership with Choice Hotels continues to strengthen
as it has delivered many benefits to their organisation and
ours throughout the past financial year.
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Workplace giving is on the increase in Australia, as it is a
great way to strengthen and build a positive team culture
while making a real difference in the community. Workplace
giving allows employees to donate money via payroll to
their favourite charity before tax, and then many employers
choose to match these donations to show their support.
The organisations that match their staff donations say
they are generally more engaged, more motivated and
feel they are making a real difference, encouraging
greater participation.
During 2016/17 the number of organisations participating
in a workplace giving program for Kids Under Cover
increased by 33%, with almost $30,000 contributed in
regular pre-tax payments between $2 and $150 per pay.
We warmly thank the individuals who give through
workplace giving and acknowledge the support from
businesses who participate, facilitating regular donations
to Kids Under Cover – you are amazing!
Thank you:
Australian Healthcare Associates, BP Australia, CSL, Devine
Limited, Goodman, Harris HMC, IAG, NAM, Origin Energy,
Porter Davis, Probuild Constructions, PWC and Telstra.

In August 2016, during Homelessness Week, $2 from every
night stayed in a Choice property was donated to Kids Under
Cover. This has become a very successful campaign for
Choice Hotels, which is embraced by their franchisees, staff
and guests around the country. The campaign raises wider
awareness of youth homelessness and enough funds to
build a brand new studio.
BHA Project Management are experts in the design and
construction of prefabricated and relocatable buildings so
they are well placed to understand our work and add value
beyond financial contributions.

Workplace Giving
Makes a Big Impact

To learn more about workplace giving please email:
partnerships@kuc.org.au

Hayden from BHA Project Management with the car he donated.

The team at Coca-Cola Amatil (CCA) in Victoria worked on
several activities with us during 2016/17, each of which have
made a significant impact.
We were delighted to be named the beneficiary of the annual
CCA Footy Finals fundraising dinner in September 2016. The
event was attended by over 300 people and featured a variety
of fundraising activities on the night which contributed to the
$54,000 raised to support the build of a studio.
Enthusiastic CCA staff also volunteered at the Cubby House
Challenge® event in March 2017, and later jumped at the
chance to be involved in the build of a studio which was
funded by the proceeds of the footy dinner.
A group of 25 staff volunteers covered shifts across the
eight days of the corporate build held in May 2017 to help
construct a two-bedroom studio for a family in desperate
need of additional space for two teenage siblings.

Coca-Cola Amatil Building a
Brighter Future for Siblings
The funds raised at the Coca-Cola Amatil footy
finals dinner in September 2016 enabled the
build of a two-bedroom (with bathroom) studio
to accommodate two brothers in Melbourne’s
northern suburbs.
In 2016 Jan* took on full-time care of her three young
grandchildren, aged five, four and two at the time. This
resulted in severe overcrowding in the small Office of
Housing home, which was also shared by three of her
own children, aged 19, 20 and 21.
At the time, the youngest grandchild (aged just two) was
sharing a room with his grandmother, and the other two
grandchildren shared a bedroom. Jan’s daughter, aged 19,
had her own room and her two sons were sharing a room.
Her eldest son, David*, would often sleep in the lounge
room, or not come home at all.
Relationships with Jan’s children were becoming
strained; the house was noisy and chaotic with
the young grandchildren needing much of their
grandmother’s time and attention.
The lounge room was a makeshift bedroom most of the
time, and every bedroom was jam packed with freestanding
wardrobes, kid’s toys and her teenager’s belongings.
The lack of available space and the emotional stress
placed significant pressure on Jan’s children, resulting
in David moving out to free up some space.
At the time, Adam* was completing a mechanics
apprenticeship and was finding it hard to study and
have time to himself. Their sister, Mel*, was spending
more time at home while she recovered from a knee

Coca-Cola volunteers working on the corporate build.

our funding

Thirsty Work with
Life-Changing Outcomes

operation, which gave her no choice but to defer her
nursing course temporarily.
To provide the three grandchildren with stability and
high-quality care, it was in their best interest to remain
in the care of their grandmother, keeping them safe
and protected.
To sustain and support this new family arrangement,
the provision of a studio was imperative in keeping
Jan’s own children at home, in stable and secure
accommodation and to enable David to move back.
The studio has provided much needed additional space
and relieved a great deal of pressure and stress from
the family home. It has meant Adam and Mel* did
not end up feeling like they had no choice but to find
alternate accommodation like their brother, which
on apprentice wages and Newstart Allowance is
challenging at best.
The studio also meant Jan still had the support of
her own children, and they could enjoy spending time
together minus the stress of an overcrowded home.
“I can’t tell you in words what this has done for my
family. My kids have an outlet now – if things get too
much in the house they have their studio to go to, and
I have my own room now,” says Jan.
“Adam is more independent now, and Mel is looking at
going back to university to study paramedics, with a Kids
Under Cover scholarship to help her. The kids even hang
out in the studio watching movies, like they are friends.”
And the best thing? “I know where they all are, and my
grandkids are safe.”
*Names have been changed to protect identities.
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Annual
Cubby House
Challenge®
Smashes all
Records
With record-breaking sales achieved at the twilight
auction event, and extensive coverage received
across print, web, television and radio press all
contributing to the success of the event, it’s not
surprising the Cubby House Challenge® continues
to go from strength to strength each year.
Set within the picturesque Carlton Gardens, the 9th Cubby
House Challenge® showed no signs of disappointing. With an
expert judging panel consisting of award winning architect
and Grand Designs Australia host, Peter Maddison; architect.
Joe Snell; editor of The Design Files, Lucy Feagins; Alice Stolz,

National Managing Editor of Domain; Interior Designer,
Fiona Lynch; and parenting expert, Dr Justin Coulson, this
year’s event was one of the most exciting and ground
breaking so far.
The judging panel had a tough job deciding on the award
winners who were announced at the special twilight
auction event held on Thursday 30 March 2017.
Five architecturally designed and custom-built cubby
houses were all in the running to take home the title of
Australia’s Best Cubby as guests bid on their favourite at
the auction event.
We were delighted to have The Hon. Martin Foley MP
attend as our special guest at the auction event and a
surprise appearance from Andy and Ben from 2016’s
The Block who lent a hand on stage to hand out awards.
The cubbies – all built and donated by leading members
of the Australian building and design industry – really
broke the mould this year, delivering the most creative,
innovative and unique cubbies yet. Showcasing neverbefore seen-techniques and features, including 3D-printed
wall panels, interactive facades, multi-level interactive
spaces, real-life movable Tetris blocks, a periscope, and
even a turret!
A highlight on the Melbourne event calendar, the
Melbourne Flower & Garden Show attracted over 100,000
visitors across the five days in 2017 at which the cubbies
are a feature display.
The colourful and unique cubby houses provide the perfect
platform to promote our cause. “At grass-roots level, the
Cubby House Village is a great place for us to engage with
adults and their children. It’s an important opportunity to
spread awareness about our work,” said our CEO, Jo Swift.
The event further enabled us to raise vital funds to support
our work through the sale of pins, raffle tickets, and
merchandise, whilst at the same time offering a fun-filled
space for children, young and old, to play and explore.

36

Minister Foley with Jo Swift and Rory Costelloe from Villawood Properties.

Andy and Ben from ‘The Block’.

Together, the auctioneers helped raise a record total of
$92,500, with title of Australia’s Best Cubby going to ‘Glowb’
by Playce and Agency of Sculpture. Glen Coutinho auctioned
the winning cubby for a record-breaking $26,000, taking
home this year’s Top Auctioneer award.
Likewise, we are also incredibly thankful to the 120-plus
people who volunteered their time at the 2017 Cubby House
Challenge® – we simply couldn’t have done it without you, our
dedicated volunteers. Thank you so much for your support.
Overall, the event raised over $180,000 which included a
generous matching grant from Gandel Philanthropy, longterm supporters of our work.
Gandel Philanthropy almost doubled their $40,000
contribution in 2016 providing a grant of $70,000. We are
incredibly grateful for this vital support which will have a
huge impact on the work we are able to undertake.
The funds raised from the Cubby House Challenge® will
make an enormous difference as they are invested directly
into preventing youth homelessness.
cubbyhousechallenge.org.au

THANK YOU

FMSA Architecture; RMIT; Playce; Agency of Sculpture;
Grimshaw Architecture; Warrick Home Builders; Porter
Davis; and Probuild.

We are extremely grateful for the continued support we
receive from the event’s auction partners.

Luke Banitsiotis from Woodards and Harry Li from the
ISell Group, Glenn Coutinho from RT Edgar, Tom Roberts
from Nelson Alexander and Sam Rigopoulos – Jellis Craig.

Some of Melbourne’s most acclaimed real estate agents
volunteer their time each year in support of the event and
our work.

We would like to acknowledge the support of all event
partners and sponsors, without your generosity the event
could not continue to grow and be as successful as it is.

Raising awareness of our work via support from
the wider community not only demonstrates a
community that cares but helps to highlight the issue
of youth homelessness and our work in prevention.
During this past financial year, we saw a substantial increase
in the number of individuals and community groups raising
funds through a variety of fundraising events and activities.
Many generous people took part in fun runs, held fundraising
barbecues or a casual clothes day, and some even showed
their support by taking donations in lieu of birthday presents.
This kind of community support is essential to Kids
Under Cover.
Throughout the 2016/17 year, 116 individuals or groups
organised events raising just over $118,000 for Kids Under
Cover. This is an incredible 260% increase in the number of
people holding events on the previous year!

We are also equally grateful to have received a $10,000
donation from the Lions Club of Reservoir and $3,000 from
Greensborough Central Rotary Club in support of our work.
During 2016/17, Shenton College in Perth continued their
annual fundraising activities in support of Kids Under Cover,
donating $6,000.
Christ Church Grammar School also made a generous
donation of $5,000.
Without the support from all our community fundraisers,
their family and friends, and the wider community, we could
not continue to deliver our programs. On behalf of the young
people and families we have supported we thank you for
helping to make a difference.

Project Street 7:30
a unique one-day
photographic event
Community fundraising events don’t get much
more creative than this!

our funding

Kids Under Cover
in the Community

On the first Saturday of winter, 30 photographers took to
Melbourne’s streets for a special photographic collaboration.
All in search of “that one” distinctive image of Melbourne,
each photographer had just a few hours to shoot, edit
and print their image, culminating in an exhibition of all
30 images which were taken that day.
The exhibition was launched at 7:30pm on 3 June 2017
at The Fox Darkroom and Gallery in Kensington, and the
prints were auctioned that night with proceeds being
donated to Kids Under Cover.
Creators of the event, Craig Wetjen and Steve Scalone
teamed up to deliver this unique fundraising event
which involved another 28 of Melbourne’s most creative,
experienced and kind-hearted photographers.

In addition, we recognise the support received from the
21 runners who participated in Run Melbourne in July 2016
raising almost $13,000.

Photographers captured some stunning images which
were then edited, printed and displayed for auction at
the special fundraising event.

There were also 19 runners who participated in the City2Sea
fun run event, together raising close to $6,000.

The event was also supported by Cubby House
Challenge® auctioneers, Luke Banitsiotis and Harry Li.

Of our enthusiastic community of fundraisers, we are also
extremely grateful for the support we received from the
following fundraisers:

Luke and Harry successfully auctioned all 30 prints,
raising over $11,500 on the night.
We would like to thank Steve and Craig and all the
photographers who donated their time, expertise and
the final prints for auction. Special thanks also to
auctioneers Luke and Harry and Tom Goldner from
The Fox Darkroom & Gallery for supporting the event.

The dedicated team from Golden Messenger who, each year,
host the garage sale to end all garage sales! Every year
thousands of items are left behind on Virgin Airlines and
Jetstar flights. These items are then sold at the garage sale.
The total funds raised from two garage sales was $12,669.

In total, $12,700 was raised. Congratulations to everyone
involved. What a terrific concept and wonderful result!

We were fortunate to be the beneficiary of the National
Family Law Conference held in October 2016 which saw
us receive a donation of $10,000 from the event.

The photographs are still available to view online at:
www.projectstreet.com.au/melbourne-3rd-june
Bowie with his Run Melbourne medal.
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our people

Jo Swift

leadership team

Jo joined Kids Under Cover
15 years ago, and in 2017
celebrates 10 years as CEO.

Bianca
Richards

National Marketing &
Fundraising Manager
Bianca was appointed National Marketing &
Fundraising Manager in November 2015, a key
leadership position reporting to the CEO.
With almost 15 years of experience in franchise
marketing, health and wellness, consumer services,
retail, local area marketing, membership, and
fundraising, Bianca is an inspiring leader for her
dedicated team.
Overseeing all fundraising activities, including Donate
Your Car®, as well as brand management, marketing and
communications, Bianca is passionate about ensuring
her team can perform to the best of their ability.
As National Marketing & Fundraising Manager,
Bianca has been instrumental in developing
and maintaining strong relationships with all
major stakeholders to support and nurture the
organisations fundraising outcomes.
With sound strategic competency and proven results
across all marketing channels, Bianca has driven
the organisation’s fundraising revenue to exceed
$5 million in the 2016/17 financial year, a first
for Kids Under Cover.
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Chief Executive Officer

Heather
Fisher

National Finance &
Operations Manager
A qualified Chartered Accountant, Heather brings over
20 years’ experience to the team at Kids Under Cover.
Spending the first half of her career in a top tier
Chartered Accounting firm before moving into
various executive roles in the service industry,
Heather took on the role of National Finance &
Operations Manager in March 2016.
A respected executive with a reputation for integrity,
quality, and delivering results, Heather holds a
Bachelor of Business along with a Masters of Tax.
Responsible for finance, administration, human
resources, strategic planning, operations and
information technology as well as governance, Heather
is supported by a team of dedicated professionals to
ensure the effective running of the organisation.

With a genuine passion for
making a difference to the
lives of young people, Jo’s dedication to her
role is admirable. The success and continued
growth of Kids Under Cover is a testament to
her commitment, and one that ensures the
organisation can deliver greater support.
Under Jo’s leadership, Kids Under Cover has
supported more than 3,000 young people
at risk of homelessness and awarded 737
scholarships to ensure they remain connected
to education or training ensuring greater longterm outcomes.
During her time as CEO the Kids Under Cover
portfolio of studios has grown from 156 to 486
studios live on the ground as at 30 June 2017.
Working closely with the program team, an
important aspect of Jo’s role is overseeing the
studio application approval process, which can
be both rewarding and emotionally challenging.

Brett evans

Constantly exploring alternative revenue
streams and developing ideas to deliver
greater support to young people, Jo continually
thinks outside the square to ensure young
people are given every opportunity to create
a brighter future.

As National Program Manager, Brett oversaw the
end-to-end delivery of the Studio and Scholarship
Programs alongside a dedicated team during the
2016/17 financial year.

Jo works tirelessly to build strong relationships
with government departments, ministers,
community sector leaders, philanthropic and
corporate supporters, and governing bodies.

National Program Manager

our people

governance
THE BOARD
The Kids Under Cover Board is responsible for the overall governance of the organisation
including its strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the
achievement of those goals. The board convenes a minimum of six times per year, plus
an additional meeting at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).
Code of Conduct
Under the leadership of the Chair and the CEO, and within the boundaries of the
constitution, the board determines and articulates the values, vision and the strategic
direction of Kids Under Cover. In doing this, the board is expected to:
• meet fiduciary responsibilities
as required under all relevant
commonwealth and state legislation;
• act within their duty of care to make
decisions in the best interests of Kids
Under Cover;
• avoid conflicts of interest;
• develop strategic planning and
direction of Kids Under Cover including
monitoring organisational performance
and evaluating strategic results;

• endorse internal policies;
• report back to the stakeholders
at the AGM;
• monitor the organisational compliance
with the relevant commonwealth and
state legislation and with Kids Under
Cover’s own policies; and

board committees

• evaluate its effectiveness as a board.

Finance Audit and Risk Committee
Assists the board in fulfilling its
fiduciary responsibilities and ensures
the ongoing fiscal accuracy and health
of the organisation.
Identifies, reviews and rates the
potential current and future risks to the
organisation. The committee ensures
appropriate systems, measures and
support are in place to minimise risks
to the organisation.

The committee guarantees policies and
processes are observed and ensure we
receive an unqualified audit report each
year from Pitcher Partners.
Remuneration Committee
Reviews pay, conditions and performance
of senior management and reviews
recommendations made by the CEO in
relation to staff recognition.
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our board
Andy Coleman

Alison Tait

Chair

Treasurer,
Finance Audit and Risk Committee Chair

Role: To ensure the strategic development of Kids
Under Cover and sustain strong corporate governance.
Andy is a Chartered Management Accountant and is a
Director at Coles Supermarkets Australia.
Andy holds an economics degree and has over 20 years’
experience in retail, having held various director roles
in both finance and operations in the UK before arriving
in Australia.
Andy joined the board in 2012.

Colin Radford
Vice Chair
Role: To provide Kids Under Cover with in-depth
knowledge of government; its agencies, operations,
stakeholders, processes and objectives.
Colin is the CEO of the Victorian Managed Insurance
Authority, a non-executive director of the Transport
Accident Commission (TAC) and chair of the Defence
Reserves Support Council (Victoria).
A Williamson Fellow and Graduate of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors (Order of Merit), Colin
has more than 25 years’ experience as a senior
executive within and advisor to government,
including seven years as a Partner at Deloitte.
Colin joined the Kids Under Cover board in July 2014.
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Role: To support Kids Under Cover in meeting its
financial reporting requirements and risk management.
Joining the Kids Under Cover board in July 2014, Alison
is a Partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and
has extensive experience in accounting and financial
reporting. Alison is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants with a Bachelor of Commerce
and over 15 years’ experience working with ASX listed
companies and large multinationals in the retail,
consumer and industrial products sector.

Nathaniel
Popelianski
Director
Role: To ensure Kids Under Cover practices are within
the law and our constitution reflects our organisation
and growth.
Nathaniel is a partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth
where he heads up the national property and
infrastructure team. He is known for his ability to
calmly and quietly come up with clever solutions
to seemingly insurmountable problems.
Nathaniel joined the Kids Under Cover board in
August 2012.

Director,
Remuneration Committee Chair
Role: To support the strategic development of Kids Under
Cover, particularly in the areas of strategy and governance.
CEO of Philanthropy Australia, Sarah joined the board in
2003. With a background in education, Sarah established
the Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program in 2004.
Sarah is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Management, a Member of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors, a Fellow of the Williamson
Community Leadership Program and a Victorian JP.
Sarah has a keen interest in supporting young people
having previously held the position of CEO of The Reach
Foundation, a for-purpose organisation working to
improve the wellbeing of young people so they can get
the most out of life.

Deb Tsorbaris
Director
Deb joined the board in February 2017, bringing
a wealth of experience including government and
peak body, most recently as CEO of the Centre for
Excellence in Child and Family Welfare.

board & governance

Sarah Davies

Deb spent six years as CEO at Council to Homeless
Persons, four years with The Department of Health
and Human Services and was appointed CEO at
The Centre for Excellence in Child and Family
Welfare in 2013.
We are excited to have Deb join the Kids Under
Cover board and look forward to her sharing her
enthusiasm and passion for young people in the
work that we do.
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The following directors were in office at the date of this report:
A. Coleman (Chair)
C. Radford (Vice Chair)
S. Davies
N. Popelianski
A. Tait
D. Tsorbaris

Company Secretary

J. Swift

Registered office
and principal place
of business

383 Swan Street Richmond VIC 3121

bankers

Bank of Melbourne
530 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000

Auditors

Pitcher Partners
15 Williams Street
Melbourne VIC 3001

Performance measures

The directors present their report together with the financial report of Kids Under Cover
for the year ended 30 June 2017 and auditor’s report thereon.

To evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the organisations programmatic activities
a monitoring & evaluation framework is in place. The annual evaluation report can be
found in the annual report.

Directors’ names
The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:
Andy Coleman
Colin Radford
Sarah Davies
Nathaniel Popelianski
Alison Tait
Helen Kroger [Resigned 17 Nov 2016]
Deborah Tsorbaris [Appointed 9 Feb 2017]

After balance date events
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the company, the results
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the company in future financial years.
meetings of directors
DIRECTORS

board meetings
eligible to attEnd

Number
attended

The directors have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report
unless otherwise stated.

Andy Coleman

5

3

Colin Radford

5

5

Results

Sarah Davies

5

5

The surplus of the company for the year amounted to $197,168.

Nathaniel Popelianski

5

4

Review of operations

Alison Tait

5

4

The company continued to engage in its principal activity, the results of which are
disclosed in the attached financial statements.

Helen Kroger

2

1

Deborah Tsorbaris

2

2

Significant changes in state of affairs

Members guarantee

There were no significant changes in the company’s state of affairs that occurred
during the financial year, other than those referred to elsewhere in this report.

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited
by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the Constitution states that each member
is required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstandings
and obligations of the company. At 30 June 2017 the number of members was 6. The
combined total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the
company is wound up is $6.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the company during the year were:
- Provision of one and two bedroom studios
- Provision of scholarships
- Fundraising through gifts, donations, government and philanthropic grants, appeals,
events and regular giving programs.

financial report

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the board of directors.

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.
Short-term and long-term objectives and strategies
The Company’s short and long term objective is to prevent youth homelessness.

Andrew Coleman

Alison Tait

The Company’s strategies to achieve this objective include:

Director

Director, Treasurer

- constructing purpose built demountable studios for homeless and at-risk young people
- providing scholarships for education or job training for young people.

Date: 10 October 2017

In doing this we seek to keep families together, keep young people engaged in education
and connected with their community.
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Auditor’s
declaration
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name

qualifications and experience

special responsibilities

Andy Coleman

Operations & Supply Chain Director at Coles Supermarkets Australia.
Andy is a Chartered Management Accountant and holds an Economics
Degree from Nottingham.

Board Chair

Colin Radford

Chief Executive Officer at Victorian Managed Insurance Authority. Colin
is a public sector specialist with more than 25 years working in and with
government. Colin is currently a Director of the TAC and the Chair of
Defence Reserves Support Council (Victoria).

Board Vice Chair

Sarah Davies

Chief Executive Officer of Philanthropy Australia and Board Member of
the Centre for Social Impact. Sarah has an extensive background in the
tertiary education sector.

Remuneration Committee Chair

Nathaniel Popelianski

Partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth, Nathaniel specialises in property
law, has a Bachelor of Commerce, a Bachelor of Laws, has been in
practice since 1997 and is national practice group leader of the Property
& Infrastructure Practice.

Alison Tait

Partner at PwC. Alison holds a Bachelor of Commerce, is a member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants and has over 15 years’ experience
working with ASX listed companies and large multinationals.

Helen Kroger
[Resigned 17 Nov 2016]

Currently providing corporate advisory services to Australian business and
is a Senior Counsel with Civic Creative. Helen has an extensive background
in the philanthropic, small business, education and corporate sectors.

Deborah Tsorbaris
[Appointed 9 Feb 2017]

Chief Executive Officer at Centre for Excellence in Child and Family
Welfare. In her previous roles, Deborah had worked as Director at
Department of Health & Human Service and Chief Executive Officer
at Council to Homeless Persons.

financial report

Directors’ qualifications, experience and special responsibilities

Finance, Audit and Risk
Committee Chair
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
2017
$

2016
$

2,695,370

2,678,737

4,452,323

4,087,000

Bequests

447,809

26,600

Other

151,010

141,152

note
Revenue and other income
Government funding
Fundraising
Donations and gifts

Other income
Investment income

110,582

68,833

Net gain on disposal of non‑current assets

142,998

382,893

86,603

19,804

8,086,695

7,405,019

(1,131,327)

(1,116,048)

 Donate Your Car®

(932,774)

(942,649)

Scholarship program costs

(488,133)

(541,177)

Studio program costs

(4,313,825)

(4,405,360)

Management and administration costs

(1,023,468)

(947,268)

(7,889,527)

(7,952,502)

197,168

(547,483)

10,292

-

Sundry income
2
Less: expenses
Marketing and fundraising costs
 General marketing and fundraising

Surplus / (deficit)
Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Unrealised gain on restatement of financial assets to fair value

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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10,292

-

207,460

(547,483)

note

2017
$

2016
$

7,541,792

6,586,619

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

Receivables

5

463,392

399,086

Other financial assets

6

388,100

-

Other assets

7

161,084

29,971

8,554,368

7,015,676

7,518,107

8,158,001

7,518,107

8,158,001

16,072,475

15,173,677

Total current assets

financial report

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

Non‑current assets
Property, plant and equipment

8

Total non‑current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Payables

9

1,320,677

1,003,549

Provisions

10

361,702

143,110

Other liabilities

11

462,049

232,356

2,144,428

1,379,015

74,769

118,220

74,769

118,220

2,219,197

1,497,235

13,853,278

13,676,442

2,190,030

1,526,053

Retained earnings

11,663,248

12,150,389

Total equity

13,853,278

13,676,442

Total current liabilities
Non‑current liabilities
Provisions

10

Total non‑current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Reserves

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
contributed equity $

reserves $

general funds $

total equity $

Balance as at 1 July 2015

-

1,316,846

12,907,079

14,223,925

Deficit for the year

-

-

(547,483)

(547,483)

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

-

(547,483)

(547,483)

Transfers

-

209,207

(209,207)

-

Balance as at 1 July 2016

-

1,526,053

12,150,387

13,676,440

Surplus for the year

-

-

197,168

197,168

Unrealised gain on restatement of financial assets to fair value

-

10,292

-

10,292

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

10,292

197,168

207,460

Transfers

-

653,685

(684,307)

(30,622)

Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

-

-

-

-

Balance as at 30 June 2017

-

2,190,030

11,663,248

13,853,278

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017
Note

2017 $

2016 $

8,132,353

7,574,647

(4,512,477)

(3,814,905)

Cash flow from operating activities
Grants and donations received
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received

110,582

68,833

Scholarships paid

(382,191)

(492,596)

3,348,267

3,335,979

277,794

421,999

(2,670,888)

(2,238,964)

(2,393,094)

(1,816,965)

6,586,619

5,067,605

955,173

1,519,014

7,541,792

6,586,619

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at beginning of the financial year
Net increase in cash held
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Cash at end of financial year

The accompanying
notes form part of these
financial statements.

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(d) Contributions Government Grants and Donations

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in
accordance with the Australian Charities and Not for profits Commission Act 2012
and Australian Accounting Standards Reduced Disclosure Requirements, Interpretations
and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board.

A non reciprocal contribution or grant is recognised when the entity obtains control of
the contribution or grant and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
entity, and the amount of the contribution or grant can be measured reliably.

The financial report covers Kids Under Cover as an individual entity. Kids Under Cover is
a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Kids Under Cover
is a not for profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.
The financial report was approved by the directors as at the date of the directors’ report.
The following are the significant accounting policies adopted by the company in the
preparation and presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have been
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

If conditions attached to the contribution or grant that must be satisfied before the entity
is eligible to receive the contribution, recognition of contribution or income is deferred
until those conditions are met.
A non reciprocal donation is recognised when the right to receive a donation has
been established.
When the entity receives grants but is obliged to give directly approximately equal
value to the contributor, recognition of grant income will be deferred until the delivery
of service.
(e) Financial instruments

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report

Donated financial assets

Historical Cost Convention

Financial assets donated to the group are recognised at fair value at the date the group
obtains the control of the assets.

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical
costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. Cost is based on the fair values
of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
(b) Income tax
No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is exempt from income tax
under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
(c) Revenue
Investment income
Investment income comprises of interest revenue and is recognised when it accrues.
In kind donations
Goods and services donated to the company are included at fair value to the company
where this can be quantified. No amounts are included in the financial statements
for services donated by volunteers. Goods donated for resale, raffle and auction are
included as income when they are sold.
Asset sales
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(f) Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where
applicable, any accumulated depreciation.
Any property, plant or equipment donated to the company or acquired for nominal cost
is recognised at fair value at the date the company obtains control of the assets.
Houses
Houses are carried at deemed cost less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation.
The land on which the houses are situated is utilised under a long term lease from the
government and is not owned by the company.
Houses where the asset value is expected to be realised within the next 12 months,
are considered assets held for sale, and have been reclassified as such. Other houses
remain classified as property, plant and equipment.
Studios
Studios are carried at deemed cost less, where applicable, accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

The gain or loss on disposal of all non current assets is determined as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds
on disposals.

All studios currently held, irrespective of funding source, are the property of the company.

All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Plant and equipment

49

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment (other than land) are depreciated over their
useful lives to the company commencing from when the asset is held ready for use.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line and diminishing value basis over the
expected economic lives as follows:
Class of fixed asset	Depreciation rates	Depreciation basis
Houses at cost

5%

Straight line

Studios at cost

25%

Straight line

Leasehold improvements at cost

33%

Straight line

Motor vehicles at cost

25%	Diminishing value

Office equipment at cost

5% – 40%	Diminishing value

future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and are
discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting
period on high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms of the
related obligation. For currencies in which there is no deep market in such high quality
corporate bonds, the market yields (at the end of the reporting period) on government
bonds denominated in that currency are used. Any remeasurements for changes in
assumptions of obligations for other long term employee benefits are recognised in
profit or loss in the periods in which the change occurs.
Other long term employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the
statement of financial position if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when the
actual settlement is expected to occur. All other long term employee benefit obligations
are presented as non current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(g) Impairment

(i) Leases

At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. The assessment will include considering
external sources of information and internal sources of information. If such an indication
exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use, to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value
over its recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based
on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits
incidental to ownership.

Depreciated replacement costs is used to determine value in use. Depreciated
replacement costs is the current replacement cost of an asset less, where applicable,
accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost.
(h) Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefit obligations
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting period are measured at the (undiscounted)
amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is
settled. The expected cost of short term employee benefits in the form of compensated
absences such as annual leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.
All other short term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables in the
statement of financial position.
(ii) Long term employee benefit obligations
The provision for other long term employee benefits, including obligations for long
service leave and annual leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before
twelve months after the end of the reporting period, are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of the services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated
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(j) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST,
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial
position are shown inclusive of GST.
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the
GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating
cash flows.
(k) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for
consistency with current year disclosures.
(l) Economic dependency
The company is dependent upon the ongoing receipt of grants and donations to ensure
the continuance of its studio and scholarship programs.

2017
$

2016
$

2,695,370

2,678,737

4,452,323

4,087,000

Bequests

447,809

26,600

Other

151,010

141,152

5,051,142

4,254,752

Investment income

110,582

68,833

Net gain on disposal of non‑current assets

142,998

382,893

86,603

19,804

340,183

471,530

8,086,695

7,405,019

3,145,499

2,945,631

1,540

1,296

NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME
Grant funding
Government funding
Fundraising
Donations and gifts
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Other income

Sundry income

NOTE 3: OPERATING SURPLUS
Surplus / (deficit) has been determined after:
Depreciation
‑ houses & studios
‑ leasehold improvements
‑ motor vehicles

15,888

7,363

‑ office furniture and equipment

13,004

27,166

3,175,931

2,981,456

1,576,560

1,487,226

408,977

598,852

Employee benefits
Net loss on disposal of non‑current assets
‑ Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (continued)
2017
$

2016
$

Cash on hand

158

226

Cash at bank

7,541,634

6,586,393

7,541,792

6,586,619

332,162

96,800

Accrued income

108,916

221,103

GST receivable

22,314

81,183

131,230

302,286

463,392

399,086

388,100

-

36,325

29,971

124,759

-

161,084

29,971

251,675

1,456,073

(151,006)

(1,031,842)

100,669

424,231

NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTE 5: RECEIVABLES
CURRENT
Trade debtors
Other receivables

NOTE 6: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
CURRENT
Available‑for‑sale financial assets
At fair value:
Shares in listed corporations
NOTE 7: OTHER ASSETS
CURRENT
Prepayments
Assets held for sale

NOTE 8: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Houses
At cost
Accumulated depreciation
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2017
$

2016
$

18,080,720

15,739,838

(10,766,386)

(8,070,121)

7,314,334

7,669,717

4,620

4,620

(2,836)

(1,296)

1,784

3,324

7,416,787

8,097,272

96,713

59,603

(27,526)

(37,515)

69,187

22,088

68,869

62,226

(36,736)

(23,585)

32,133

38,641

101,320

60,729

7,518,107

8,158,001

424,231

693,035

(137,031)

(174,211)

(61,772)

(94,593)

(124,759)

-

100,669

424,231

Studios
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Leasehold improvements
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total land and buildings
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Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Office equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total plant and equipment
Total property, plant and equipment
(a) Reconciliations
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
at the beginning and end of the current financial year
Houses
Opening carrying amount
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Reclassified as held for sale
Closing carrying amount
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (continued)
2017
$

2016
$

Opening carrying amount

7,669,717

8,708,798

CURRENT

Additions

3,048,289

2,216,569

Unsecured liabilities

Disposals

(461,549)

(404,613)

Trade creditors

(3,083,727)

(2,851,037)

141,604

-

7,314,334

7,669,717

Reversal of relocation provision
Closing carrying amount

-

4,620

(1,540)

(1,296)

1,784

3,324

Opening carrying amount

22,088

29,450

Additions

67,489

-

Disposals

(4,502)

-

(15,888)

(7,362)

NOTE 11: OTHER LIABILITIES

69,187

22,088

CURRENT

38,641

90,786

Additions

6,496

17,775

Disposals

-

(42,754)

(13,004)

(27,166)

32,133

38,641

Closing carrying amount

Closing carrying amount
Office fittings and equipment
Opening carrying amount

Depreciation expense
Closing carrying amount

Employee benefits

(a)

Scholarships

247,986

372,738

1,320,677

1,003,549

122,388

95,910

239,314

47,200

361,702

143,110

NON CURRENT
Employee benefits

Motor vehicles

Depreciation expense

630,811

NOTE 10: PROVISIONS

-

Depreciation expense
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Sundry creditors and accruals

3,324

Disposals

1,072,691

CURRENT

Leasehold improvements
Opening carrying amount

2016
$

NOTE 9: PAYABLES

Studios

Depreciation expense

2017
$

8,769

2,720

66,000

115,500

74,769

118,220

131,157

98,630

462,049

232,356

1,497,435

851,425

Scholarship program reserve

472,309

464,634

Scholarship endowment reserve

209,994

209,994

10,292

-

2,190,030

1,526,053

Scholarships

(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability

Grants received in advance

(a)

NOTE 12: RESERVES
Studio program reserve

Fair value reserve

NOTE 12: RESERVES (CONTINUED)
Studio program reserve:
The studio program reserve has been established to record funds raised by donation
to the company for use in its studio program.

Scholarship endowment reserve:
The scholarship endowment reserve was established from funds received from the
Estate of Cecelia Murnane. These funds are held in perpetuity with 80% of the income
relating to these funds being used to pay scholarships and the balance retained to
increase the fund.
Fair value reserve:
The fair value reserve represents unrealised increments in the market value of the share
portfolio received through the Bequest of Kathleen Allen.
2017
$

2016
$

540,638

530,259

50,742

46,703

591,380

576,962

NOTE 13: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
COMPENSATION
Compensation received by key management
personnel of the company
‑ post‑employment benefits

2016
$

153,457

148,988

12,819

166,276

166,276

315,264

NOTE 15: CAPITAL AND LEASING
COMMITMENTS
(a) Operating lease commitments

Scholarship program reserve:
The scholarship program reserve has been established to record funds raised by
donation to the company for use in its scholarship program.

‑ short‑term employee benefits

2017
$

The above remuneration for KPM’s relates to 4 full time equivalents.

The Company has entered into a commercial
lease for the head office premises. Future
minimum rentals payable under non‑cancellable
operating leases as at the reporting date:
Payable
‑ not later than one year
‑ later than one year and not later than five years

financial report

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 (continued)

NOTE 16: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE
The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited
by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the Constitution states that each member
is required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstandings
and obligations of the company. At 30 June 2017 the number of members was 6. The
combined total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the
company is wound up is $6.
NOTE 17: COMPANY DETAILS
The registered office of the company is:
Kids Under Cover
383 Swan Street,
RICHMOND VIC 3121

NOTE 14: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Directors
Directors of the Company in office during the year are disclosed in the directors’ report
that accompanies these financial statements.
(b) Directors’ compensation
The directors act in an honorary capacity and receive no compensation for their services.
(c) Transactions with director-related entities
There were no transactions with directors or director related entities during the financial
year and no amounts payable or receivable from directors or director related entities at
the reporting date.
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thank you
During 2016/17 our vision of a community where no
young person is homeless was shared by so many.
On behalf of the young people and families we support, the
team at Kids Under Cover sincerely thank all of our patrons,
ambassadors, funders and donors. Thank you to all of our
individual, community, philanthropic, corporate and government
supporters, the generous organisations who provided pro bono
services, our building crews, and every volunteer who gave their
valuable time and skills to enable us to do what we do.
Every dollar given and every hour of support gifted is vital, and
ensures that we can continue to make a difference to the lives
of so many young people. Thank you.

Founding Patron
• Ken Morgan OAM

Patrons

•	Herb Elliott AC MBE
• Tommy Emmanuel AM
• Athol Guy AO
•	Incolink
• Master Builders
Association of Victoria
•	Ian ‘Molly’ Meldrum AM
• The Honourable Martin
Moynihan AO QC
•	Daryl Somers OAM

Life Ambassadors
• Brian Chenu
•	George Ermer
• Trevor Fasham
•	David Lee

Young Ambassador
• Matthew Taylor

Platinum Partners
•	Grenet Foundation
• Portland House
Foundation
• Porter Davis
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•	Reinehr Family
Foundation
• The Shine On Foundation

Gold Partners

• Barr Family Foundation
• Brian and Virginia
McNamee Foundation
• Choice Hotels Asia-Pac
• Coca-Cola Amatil
• Eric and Elizabeth Gross
Foundation
•	Gandel Philanthropy
•	Harris HMC
•	Incolink
•	IOOF Foundation
• Joe White Bequest
•	Lord Mayor’s Charitable
Foundation
•	Nous Group
• Pierce Armstrong
Foundation
• Pitcher Partners
•	Vicki Standish Family
Foundation
• Zenith

Silver Partners

• Brian M Davis Charitable
Foundation

• Campbell Edwards Trust
• Cassandra Gantner
Foundation
• Collier Charitable Fund
• Conquest Recruitment
Group
•	DBM Consultants
• Eva and Les Erdi
Humanitarian Charitable
Foundation
• Manheim
• Millett Family Foundation
•	Ortech Industries
•	Rondo Building Services
Pty Ltd

Bronze Partners

• 2016 National Family Law
Conference
• Andrews Foundation
• Ansvar Insurance CEP
• Besen Family Foundation
• BHA Project Management
• BuildSafe Building
Insurances
•	Dimmick Charitable Trust
•	Dulux Australia
• Eldon and Anne Foote
Trust
• EM Horton Family Fund
•	FGM Charitable Fund
•	Freemasons Public
Charitable Foundation
•	Goodridge Foundation
•	Gordon Brothers
Charitable Foundation
•	Grocon Pty Ltd
•	Hecand Family
Foundation
• Jack and Ethel Goldin
Foundation
• JTM Foundation
• Kingfisher Charitable
Trust
•	Lions Club of Reservoir
Inc.
• Macutex
• Matana Foundation for
Young People
•	Newsboys Foundation
•	Norman, Mavis & Graeme
Waters Perpetual Trust

• Probuild Constructions
Pty Ltd
• Project Street 730
• Suitters Foundation
• The Marian & E.H. Flack
Trust
• The Ould Family

Supporting Partners
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Adshel
Alan Couper
All Souls Opportunity Shop
AMP Foundation
Andrew Gill
APN Outdoor
ArtWrap Pty Ltd
Better Homes & Gardens,
Channel 7
• BlueStar Direct
• BP Australia
• Breadwinner Australia
Pty Ltd
• Brennan IT
• Brunswick North West
Primary School
• Capture Point Media
• Charities Aid Foundation
Australia
• Christ Church Grammar
School
• Christmas Elves
• Conquest Recruitment
Group
• Corrs Chambers
Westgarth
• Custom Merchandise
•	Datt Family Foundation
•	Dennis Clark
•	Devine Limited
•	Direct Response Media
• EraseIT
• Eva Beck Baker Design
• EY
• Ezidebit
•	Fundraising Force
•	Geelong Community
Foundation
•	Gibson Giving Circle
•	Golden Messenger Courier
•	Goodman Foundation
•	GPI Corporate
•	Grin Creative
•	HardHat Digital

•	Herald Sun
•	Highlands Foundation
•	HPS Pharmacies
• Jack and Hedy Brent
Foundation
• Jenkins Family
Foundation
• Karma Currency
Foundation
•	Link 21 Foundation
• M & L Attwood Fund
• ManInc
• Macpherson Kelley
Foundation
• Megagraphics
Photography
• Melbourne Girls’ College
• Melissa Ryan Princess
Foundation Fund
• Mondo
• Moore Stephens
• Myer Family Company
Staff Foundation
•	Nicholas R Taylor Fund
•	Online Permit Solutions
Pty Ltd
•	Orchard Grove Primary
School
• Paulusz Family
Foundation
•	RACV Royal Auto
•	Rapid Finance
•	Riis Strategic Consulting
•	Rotary Club of
Greensborough
•	Rothfield Print
Management
• SBS Foundation
• Shenton College
• Shulu Foundation
• S&J Media Group
• Springvale Homemaker
Centre
• St Bartholomew’s
Anglican Church
• Telstra Foundation
• The Benchmarque Group
• The Flew Foundation
• The William Angliss (Vic)
Charitable Fund
• Uberbrand
•	Vertic

• Westprecinct Fully
Furnished Apartments
• Wood Family Foundation
• Wright Approach
Marketing

Donate Your Car®
Partners

• Australasian Fleet
Management Association
• Banyule City Council
•	Hume City Council
• Manheim
• Moreland City Council

Cubby House
Challenge® Partners

• Agency of Sculpture
• Bosch
• Capture Point Media
•	Dulux
•	FKD Studio
•	FMSA Architecture
•	Gandel Philanthropy
•	Get Lost Magazine
•	Grimshaw Architecture
•	Harris HMC
•	Harvey Norman
• iSell Group
• Jellis Craig
• Master Builders
Association of Victoria
• McKern Steel
• Modern Truck & Trailer
Repairs
•	Nelson Alexander
•	Ortech Industries
• Playce
• Porter Davis
• Printco
• Probuild
•	RMIT D_Lab
•	Rondo
•	RT Edgar
• Warrick Home Builders
• Woodards
• Melbourne International
Flower & Garden Show
• Manheim
•	No Fuss Event Hire
• Solomon Airlines
• Warners Nurseries
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want to get involveD?
There are a variety of ways to be involved
in the work we do at Kids Under Cover.
Without the support of like-minded
people, we could not continue to pursue
our vision of a community where no
young person is homeless.
Make a donation

Every donation, large and small, does
make a difference. You can donate
easily online at kuc.org.au OR call
us 1800 801 633.

Donate your car®

Our Donate Your Car® program is free,
tax-deductible, and a fast alternative to
selling or trading your vehicle.

Fundraise for us

Regular giving

Workplace giving

Leave a gift
in your Will

CORPORATE BUILD PROGRAM

Volunteering
opportunities

There are many opportunities to
fundraise for us throughout the year,
from taking part in a fun run event to
holding your own event.

A regular, pre-tax donation straight
from your pay is easy to setup and
you receive tax benefits.

Build your team while building a brighter
future for young people. For partners
who contribute to the funding of a studio,
Kids Under Cover can provide a unique
team building experience for staff and
other volunteers.

Much like workplace giving, regular
giving is a commitment to donate on
a regular basis.

Choosing to leave a bequest is a lasting
and generous legacy, which will benefit
young people beyond your lifetime.

Volunteers are the backbone of many
things we do throughout the year.
Often we have opportunities for you
to become involved as a volunteer at
our events, in the office and at other
community fundraising events.

Find out more about our work and ways to get involved by visiting;
kuc.org.au | donateyourcar.org.au | boardforacause.org.au | cubbyhousechallenge.org.au
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@KidsUnderCover
kidsundercover
@KidsUnderCover
Kids Under Cover

Phone (03) 9429 7444
Freecall 1800 801 633
kuc@kuc.org.au
kuc.org.au
PO Box 5141
Burnley VIC 3121

